ICN2 Second International Conference on Nutrition better nutrition better lives



World Health Organization

## Scaling up Nutrition in the African Region

## A Consultation in response to the WHA Resolution (WHA 63.23)

Harare, 3-5 May 2011

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) or of the World Health Organization (WHO) concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers, whether or not these have been patented, does not imply that these are or have been endorsed or recommended by FAO or WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters. All reasonable precautions have been taken by FAO and WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall FAO and WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

The views expressed herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of FAO or WHO.

### Contents

P	age
ABBREVIATIONS	1
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
INTRODUCTION	4
OPENING OF THE MEETING	4
OBJECTIVE 1: TO PRESENT COUNTRY PROGRESS, NEEDS AND COMMITMENTS TO SCALE UP	5
GLOBAL NUTRITION SITUATION: BURDEN AND POLICY RESPONSE – FRANCESCO BRANCA, DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTM OF NUTRITION FOR HEALTH AND DEVELOPMENT, WHO GENEVA NUTRITION CHALLENGES IN THE AFRICAN REGION – CHARLES SAGOE-MOSES, REGIONAL ADVISOR FOR INFANT AND	5
Young Child Feeding, WHO AFRO Progress with Scaling Up Nutrition – SUN Framework – David Nabarro, United Nations Secretary- General's Special Representative for Food Security and Nutrition	
JOINT FAO/WHO INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON NUTRITION 20 YEARS LATER (ICN+20) – BRIAN THOMPSON, NUTRITION AND CONSUMER PROTECTION DIVISION, FAO	8
COUNTRY PRESENTATIONS	9
PLENARY DISCUSSION ON CROSS CUTTING ISSUES: POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND CHALLENGES OF SCALING UP	10
OBJECTIVE 2: TO COLLECT COUNTRY CONTRIBUTIONS AND PERSPECTIVES ON TI COMPREHENSIVE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN EAST CENTRAL AND SOUTHERN AFRICA HEALTH COMMUNITY (ECSA-HC) – DOROTHY NAMUCHIMBA, MANAGER FI FOOD SECURITY AND NUTRITION OVERVIEW OF THE COMPREHENSIVE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN ON MATERNAL, INFANT AND YOUNG CHILD NUTRITION	<b> 11</b> Or 11 –
FRANCESCO BRANCA, DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF NUTRITION FOR HEALTH AND DEVELOPMENT, WHO GEN	
DISCUSSION ON THE COMPREHENSIVE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN	12
COUNTRY SUCCESS STORIES NUTRITION-SENSITIVE FOOD AND AGRICULTURE-BASED APPROACHES – LESLIE AMOROSO, NUTRITION AND CONSUM PROTECTION DIVISION (AGN), FAO	ier 18
Education Trials of Improved Practices (TIPs) for complementary feeding – Charity Diroimwe, Nutrit consultant for FAO	
COMMUNITY PROGRAMMES LINKING NUTRITION AND FOOD SECURITY – EVIDENCE BASED INTERVENTIONS IN FAO PROJECTS IN LESOTHO AND MALAWI – BRIAN THOMPSON, FAO	20
OBJECTIVE 3: TO EXPLORE THE COMMITMENT TO SUPPORTING IMPLEMENTATION OF PROPOSED ACTIONS	
WORKING GROUPS ON EFFECTIVE INTERVENTIONS	21
IMPLEMENTATION MECHANISMS AND TOOLS	24
Scaling Up Nutrition: the role of civil society - Nathalie Ernoult, Policy Advisor for MSF Access Campaign	24
Country process: Policy briefs for Country Scale up plans – Chizuru Nishida, Coordinator for	
Nutrition Policy and Scientific Advise, WHO Department for Nutrition	24
REACH –joint approach to ending child hunger – Ferima Coulibaly-Zerbo, Technical officer for nutrition for West Africa, WHO	25
Global nutrition governance – United Nations Standing Committee on Nutrition (UNSCN), Lina Mahy, UNSCN	26

Capacity building – Anu Narayan, Deputy Regional Director- East and Southern Africa for Helle	
Keller International	26
Costing nutrition interventions with the One Health Tool – Ursula Trubswasser, Technical focal	l point
for nutrition for Eastern and Southern Africa, WHO	27
e-Library of Evidence for Nutrition Actions (eLENA) and Global Information System on	
Implementation of Nutrition Actions and Policies (GISNAP) - Chizuru Nishida, Coordinator for	
Nutrition Policy and Scientific Advice, Department of Nutrition, WHO	28
CONCLUSIONS	30
CLOSURE OF THE MEETING	31
ANNEX 1 - PROGRAMME	32
ANNEX 2 - PARTICIPANTS	35
REFERENCES	43

### Abbreviations

BFHI	Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative
CAADP	Comprehensive African Agriculture Development Programme
СТС	Community-based Therapeutic Care
DFID	United Kingdom Department of Foreign International Development
FANTA	Food and Nutrition Technical Assistance
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
ICN	International Conference of Nutrition
IDSR	Integrated Disease Surveillance and Response
IYCN/F	Infant and Young Child Feeding/Nutrition
MSF	Medcins sans frontiere
NCD	Noncommunicable Diseases

- OTP Outpatient Therapeutic Programme
- REACH Ending Child Hunger and Undernutrition Partnership
- RUTF Ready to Use Therapeutic Food
- SCN Standing Committee on Nutrition
- SUN Scaling Up Nutrition
- UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund
- USAID United States Agency for International Development
- WFP World Food Programme
- WHO World Health Organization

### **Executive summary**

The World Health Assembly (WHA) was made aware that worldwide malnutrition accounts for 11% of the global burden of disease, which leads to long-term poor health and disability and poor educational and developmental outcomes. The WHA further learned that worldwide 186 million children are stunted and 20 million suffer from the most deadly form of severe acute malnutrition each year.

In response to these challenges, the 63<sup>rd</sup> WHA has approved resolution 63.23, urging Member States to increase the political commitment to prevent and reduce malnutrition in all its forms, to strengthen and expedite the sustainable implementation of the global strategy for infant and young child feeding, to develop or review current policy frameworks addressing the double burden of malnutrition, to scale up interventions that improve infant and young child nutrition and to strengthen nutrition surveillance.

The overall objective of the Consultation on the WHA resolution was to update partners on the nutrition situation in Africa and to advocate to governments and partners for the implementation of the WHA resolution and discuss the preparation for the proposed International Conference on Nutrition 20 years since the first ICN was held in 1992 (ICN +20).

Nineteen countries came to the meeting, representing the health, agriculture and education sectors. Donors, UN agencies, regional organizations and NGOs were also represented.

The meeting was an opportunity to stock take on the current state of implementation of policies and programmes in nutrition, to present and discuss the outline of the Comprehensive Implementation Plan on maternal, infant and young child nutrition to be discussed at the 64<sup>th</sup> World Health Assembly in May 2011, at a time of increased interest and political commitment to nutrition as also documented by the success of the Scaling Up Nutrition movement. The meeting also allowed establishing a dialogue on nutrition policies and programmes involving the health and agricultural sectors.

Countries reported challenges as well as achievements and successes:

- Multisectoral policies and strategies exist, but nutrition is not always mainstreamed in development plans; while nutrition policies, strategies and plans of action have been developed in many countries there is seldom adequate investment for their implementation
- While a number of countries have made little or no progress in achieving the MDG 1 for reducing poverty, hunger and malnutrition, others have had significant success
- Key factors for success include high level political commitment, public awareness, good coordination between actors and the presence of high level mulstisectoral coordination mechanisms
- Some successes have been documented in promoting breastfeeding rates, in addressing severe acute malnutrition and in improving coverage of micronutrient interventions
- Challenges include insufficient capacity of decentralised cadres who provide services to implement all the nutrition interventions at scale, the need to have a harmonized intervention package, and the sustainability of financial resources.

Participants provided useful feedback on WHO's Comprehensive Implementation Plan on maternal, infant and young child nutrition:

- The CIP is a useful tool to commit governments for nutrition, particularly through the discussion at the World Health Assembly
- The CIP should make closer link to existing initiatives, like SUN and focus on the effective interventions, but give a greater attentions to interventions addressing the double burden
- The CIP should focus on the response to the challenges of implementation and scaling up and should take stock of documented success in implementation modalities
- The CIP should ensure the involvement of other sectors for interventions beyond the health sector but leave to the other sectors the detailed definition to the relevant policies
- General targets should be proposed, but specific targets should be established at country level
- The CIP should stimulate the commitment of health ministers to allocate a budget for nutrition and to identify financing mechanisms in countries

- The CIP should also advocate for the establishment of a clear mechanisms for accountability and transparent use for resources.

On the development and implementation of scale up plans, participants highlighted:

- The need for comprehensive country scale up plans for the different interventions
- The need of adequate costing tools for development of policies and programmes
- The need for harmonized and agreed indicators.

The linkages between food security, agriculture, nutrition and health were articulated and FAO was asked to continue to provide its assistance to countries in the implementation of nutrition-sensitive food and agriculture-based approaches for improving nutrition for all, including for mothers, infants and young children, at policy, strategy and programme level, as these were acknowledged as been effective, viable and sustainable long-term solutions for improving diets and raising levels of nutrition.

### Introduction

The World Health Assembly (WHA) was made aware that worldwide malnutrition accounts for 11% of the global burden of disease, which leads to long-term poor health and disability and poor educational and developmental outcomes. The WHA further learned that worldwide 186 million children are stunted and 20 million suffer from the most deadly form of severe acute malnutrition each year.

Globally, maternal and child under nutrition contributes to 35% of the disease burden in children younger than 5 years and is the underlying cause of 3.5 million deaths. Twenty three out of the 40 countries with child stunting prevalence of 40% or more are in Africa.

Around 1 in 7 infants (15%) weigh less than 2,500 grams at birth in Africa, affecting 5 million newborns every year. Most of the countries have more than 10% of prevalence from medium high (11 to 15%) to high (16-20%) and very high (>20%).

Only 31% of infants in Africa are exclusively breastfed during the first six months of life; complementary feeding frequently begins too early or too late, and foods are often nutritionally inadequate and unsafe. Under-nutrition amongst displaced persons, including refugees, due to recurrent droughts, wars and civil strife, is high in the Region, as it is among people living with HIV/AIDS. Diet-related chronic conditions, such as obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular disease and certain cancers are increasing in Africa.

In response to these challenges, the 63<sup>rd</sup> WHA has approved resolution 63.23, urging Member States to increase the political commitment to prevent and reduce malnutrition in all its forms, to strengthen and expedite the sustainable implementation of the global strategy for infant and young child feeding, to develop or review current policy frameworks addressing the double burden of malnutrition, to scale up interventions that improve infant and young child nutrition and to strengthen nutrition surveillance.

Resolution 63.23 also calls for stronger measures to implement the International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes and to end inappropriate promotion of food for infants and young children. Resolution 63.23 requests the Director General (DG) of WHO to strengthen the evidence base on effective and safe nutrition actions, to mainstream nutrition in all WHO's health policies and strategies, to support Member States in expanding their nutritional interventions and to develop a comprehensive implementation plan on infant and young child nutrition as a critical component of a global multisectoral nutrition framework.

An outline of the comprehensive implementation plan has been prepared for country and regional consultations and for discussion at the 64<sup>th</sup> WHA. The outline is supported by four background papers that provide (1) an analysis of the implementation of nutrition policies globally; (2) a review of effective nutrition interventions; (3) a description of country processes to scale up nutrition interventions; and (4) a framework for monitoring the implementation of the implementation plan.

Public comments have been sought on the plan outline and on the background papers. Country consultations will be held whenever possible, but regional consultations will be the main opportunity for discussion.

### **Opening of the meeting**

In welcoming the participants, Custodia Mandlhate, WHO Country Representative for Zimbabwe, x, FAO Deputy Regional Director for Eastern and Southern Africa, Oladapo Walker, WHO IST Coordinator for Eastern and Southern Africa, and Dr Gibson Mhlanga, Principal Director for Preventive Services in the Ministry of Health and Child Welfare for Zimbabwe, stressed the importance of the meeting and the impact it could have on improving nutrition in the African Region.

The need for collaboration between different sectors in order to scale up nutrition was stressed by all speakers. They agreed that the meeting represented an important step towards bringing the nutrition and agriculture closer together and addressing malnutrition within a multisectoral approach.

The overall objective of the Consultation regarding the WHA resolution was to update partners on the nutrition situation in Africa and to advocate to governments and partners for the implementation of the WHA resolution.

The specific objectives were:

- (a) to present country progress, needs and commitments to scale up nutrition;
- (b) to collect country contributions and perspectives on the comprehensive implementation plan; and
- (c) to explore the commitment to supporting implementation of proposed actions.

Nineteen countries attended the meeting, representing the health, agriculture and education sectors; donors, UN agencies, regional organizations and NGOs were also represented.

Jenny Amery from DFID, emphasized the donor interest in the Scaling up Nutrition Initiative. DFID has a strong interest in nutrition, focuses on high burden countries and the window of opportunity (from conception to the first two years of life). DFID aims to integrate a range of different sectors, with a strong focus on gender.

# Objective 1: To present country progress, needs and commitments to scale up

Global nutrition situation: burden and policy response – Francesco Branca, Director of the Department of Nutrition for Health and Development, WHO Geneva

Worldwide 186 million children are stunted. While stunting trends in Asia and Latin America have been declining over the last 20 years, rates in Africa have remained the same, around 40 per cent. For wasting, the African Region shows and increasing rate from 8 to 10 per cent, while in Asia, where highest rates are found, wasting has slightly decreased, from 12 to 11 per cent. Forty-three million children worldwide are overweight and rates in all regions are increasing, with the highest increase in Africa, from 4 to 8.5 % since 1990.<sup>1</sup>

Research suggests that early stunting and adolescent obesity may co-exist in the same sociogeographic population.<sup>2</sup>

While exclusive breastfeeding rates are the highest in South East Asia, rates in the African Region have been increasing steadily since the 1980s, from 12 to 30%.

The health and nutritional status of people in the developing world is influenced by changes in lifestyle and in food systems. Food systems are being transformed as a result of global economic and social change. Urbanization, foreign direct investment in the markets of developing countries and increasing incomes are prime facilitators of the observed changes, while social changes, such as the increased number of women in the workforce and rural to urban migration, provided an added stimulus. Changes are also facilitated by food production based on intensive agriculture, new food processing and storage technologies, longer product shelf-life, the emergence of food retailers and the intensification of advertising and marketing of certain products.<sup>3</sup>

Global dietary trends show an increase in refined sugars, fat, meat consumption and milk productions. At the same time, fruit and vegetable production has not been growing sufficiently, particularly in Africa.

The Global Nutrition Policy Review showed that all countries have policies or strategies to address nutrition, but often these policies are not officially adopted and do not address the existing nutrition challenges. It was also shown that programmes are seldom implemented on national scale, that food and agriculture strategies and development plans rarely include nutrition goals and that the focus on gender and vulnerable groups appears insufficient.<sup>4</sup>

The main policy gaps relate to maternal and infant nutrition, obesity and noncommunicable diseases and micronutrients.

The Policy Review also showed that a number of sectors are involved in nutrition coordination. While the Ministry of Health remains, in most countries, the main coordination institution for nutrition, a few countries position nutrition as part of a high-level policy making body, like the Office of the Prime Minister, the President or the Planning Commission.

The passage of WHA resolution 63.23 was an important milestone, as it urges Member States to increase their political commitment to nutrition in order to prevent and reduce malnutrition in all its forms, to strengthen and expedite the sustainable implementation of the global strategy for infant and young child feeding, to develop or review current policy frameworks addressing the double burden of malnutrition, to scale up interventions to improve infant and young child nutrition and strengthen nutrition surveillance.

## Nutrition challenges in the African Region – Charles Sagoe-Moses, Regional Advisor for Infant and Young Child Feeding, WHO AFRO

Presently, 14 countries in Sub-Saharan Africa are on track to reach the MDG1 target of cutting hunger and malnutrition by half by 2015. While having underweight populations affects relatively few African countries, chronic malnutrition is becoming an increasing problem in Africa, which has the greatest number of countries globally with critical stunting levels of above 40%.

Simultaneously, the risk of being overweight is increasing in Africa. The concurrent prevalence of maternal underweight and overweight in the same country suggests the beginnings of the double burden of malnutrition in many parts of Africa.

The work of nutrition is guided by various global and regional strategic frameworks including: the Comprehensive African Agricultural Development Programme (CAADP); the Africa Regional Nutrition Strategy (ARNS for 1993 to 2003 and for 2005 to 2015); the WHO/UNICEF Global Strategy on infant and young child feeding, 2003; Food Safety and Health: A Strategy for the WHO African Region; The WHO Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health, 2004; and the Strategic Directions 6 on Achieving Sustainable Health Development in the African Region, 2010-15.

The window of opportunity to prevent chronic malnutrition is very short, but there is strong evidence to recommend a number of interventions:

- Pre-natal (-9 months to birth):
  - Improved maternal nutrition, health and caring practices.
- Post-natal (0-24 months):
  - Protection, promotion and support of optimal breastfeeding;
  - Adequate complementary feeding (timing, amount, animal source foods, fortified foods);
  - Micronutrient Deficiency Control ;
  - Appropriate nutritional management of infections and malnutrition; and
  - Integration for sustainable elimination of malnutrition: Food Security, Health, Water and sanitation, Social Protection & Education.

Implementation of some of these interventions in Africa is not at scale, however. For example, early initiation of breastfeeding is only practiced by 49% of mothers, exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months: 33%, and introduction of complementary feeding at 6 months: 70%. Vitamin A supplementation coverage shows overall high implementation rates of 81% and consumption of iodized salt is estimated to be at 61%.

The main challenges of implementation are the effects of the high burden of diseases (especially communicable diseases such as HIV, Tuberculosis and Malaria) on food production, inadequate dietary

intake, increasing household food insecurity, inadequate health services, poor water supply and sanitation; and inappropriate practices for maternal or child care.

In addition, mainstreaming nutrition into national development action plans remains a big challenge resulting in inadequate financial investment in the area.

As a way forward, the speaker proposed the development of multisectoral food and nutrition policies and comprehensive communication strategies, promotion of behaviour change; government leadership; support for operational research; capacity building; and advocacy for strengthened partnerships and resource mobilization.

#### Progress with Scaling Up Nutrition – SUN Framework – David Nabarro, United Nations Secretary-General's Special Representative for Food Security and Nutrition

The Scaling Up Nutrition (SUN) Framework has been endorsed by more than 100 entities from national governments, the United Nations system, civil society organizations, development agencies, academia, philanthropic bodies and the private sector. They are committed to supporting its implementation in ways that respond to the needs of people within countries affected by under-nutrition. The reasons for the need to act are three-fold:

- There is renewed international focus on human rights as a basis for economic, social and human development and to address food and nutrition security;
- There is abundant evidence on the impact of under-nutrition on infant and young child mortality and its largely irreversible long-term effects on intellectual, physical and social development as well as on health; and
- There is widespread recognition that a series of well-tested and low-cost interventions can protect the nutrition of vulnerable individuals if incorporated into agriculture, social protection, health and educational programmes.

Successful strategies to improve the nutrition of communities are therefore based on two elements. First is nutrition-sensitive development across sectors – a consistent focus on nutritional outcomes and indicators within local and national initiatives to end hunger and improve food and nutrition security, to improve living conditions and to ensure social protection - among both rural and urban populations. Second is particular attention to the challenges faced by those most affected by under-nutrition – young children and women – through nutrition-specific interventions.

National authorities will be supported in realizing their commitments and obligations through the SUN Framework by multi-stakeholder groups, requiring efforts on all levels: country level, capacity development, global support functions, financing pathways and governance. The steps for country engagement include the following:

- Request from national authorities
- Active "champion" to convene development partners
- In-country consultations vial multi-stakeholder platform and process
- Nutrition policy in place and being pursued
- Stock-taking of actions and intentions
- Action plan with results framework
- Joint validation
- Implementation with coordinated support from government and partners

In the African Region, there are currently 13 so called SUN "Early Risers" (Benin, Ethiopia, Ghana, Malawi, Mali, Mozambique, Niger, Rwanda, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Tanzania, Uganda, and Zambia). An Early Riser country reference group is currently being established to reflect the interests of national focal points.

Three are six global taskforces engaged on different subjects: country support, development partners, monitoring and reporting, civil society, private sector and communications.

It is envisaged that by end of 2011, there will be progress in at least 12 Early Riser countries and an agreed results framework in five other countries. Furthermore, critical resource gaps will be identified and agreements with development partners to help meet the gaps.

#### Joint FAO/WHO International Conference on Nutrition 20 years later (ICN+20) – Brian Thompson, Nutrition and Consumer Protection Division, FAO

The Joint FAO/WHO International Conference on Nutrition (ICN) in 1992 adopted the World Declaration and Plan of Action for Nutrition. One hundred and fifty-nine countries participated in the ICN and pledged to reduce starvation, chronic hunger, under-nutrition, micronutrient deficiencies, diet related communicable and non-communicable diseases, impediments to optimal breastfeeding, and inadequate sanitation and hygiene.

The outstanding result of the ICN 1992 was that countries prepared National Plans of Action to alleviate hunger and malnutrition.

Despite the achievements in the two decades following the ICN, the progress in reducing hunger and malnutrition has been unacceptably slow.

It is well known that malnutrition acts as a brake on development and places an intolerable burden on national health systems and on the entire culture, social and economic structures of nations. Investing in nutrition is, therefore, not only a moral imperative, but it improves productivity and economic growth and reduces health care costs as well as promoting education, intellectual capacity and social development.

ICN+20 aims to revitalize the role of nutrition at international level and strengthen governance for nutrition by supporting other initiatives, like SUN and REACH.

The purpose of ICN+20 is to mobilize the political will and resources for improving nutrition and for reaching a consensus on a World Declaration on Nutrition that will lay the basis for achieving better nutrition for all. ICN+20 should further achieve a consensus around a global multisectoral nutrition framework indicating concrete steps to improve nutritional status.

The ICN+20 conference will be a high-level political event lasting for three days. In preparation for the conference, seven regional preparatory meetings, as well as expert meetings and stakeholder consultations, will be held throughout 2011 and 2012. The purpose of the regional meetings will be to involve countries, to facilitate exchange and to provide frameworks for the preparation of the country papers. Following the regional consultations, a regional synthesis paper will be prepared drawing on the country papers to help inform the debate at the ICN+20.

#### Discussion

The issue of *accountability* was raised during the discussion. Speakers emphasized the importance to define clear indicators, benchmarks and goals. There is a need to have goals at country, regional and global levels. Countries, donors and international organizations have to be accountable for their actions. It was stressed that there is a wealth of nutrition indicators as well as good frameworks to assess implementation status. It will be crucial to have an agreement on a set of core indicators that do not add extra burden on countries.

It was also stressed that there should be multisectoral accountability within the UN. The UN Standing Committee on Nutrition has been established in 1977 with the purpose to have a multisectoral approach, but it have apparently faced significant challenges in pulling all sectors together. As the work of the SCN is being taken forward, the individual UN agencies have to be clearer and more transparent about their own multisectoral responsibilities. The REACH Initiative was mentioned as a very good example of UN agencies working towards this direction.

Participants expressed concern about *ICN+20*. There have been several conferences and global agreements regarding nutrition already. It was considered more important to focus on implementation

than putting additional effort on the policy level. Presenters explained that while country implementation processes need to go on, the ICN+20 will be a "one-point-in-time" event to refocus global attention on nutrition and ensure commitment at high levels. This will help mainstream nutrition in countries and in different sectors, as well as in UN agencies. Furthermore, the ICN+20 will be a good forum to discuss nutrition policies outside the health sector, since there is a great deal of evidence regarding nutrition from outside the health sector. Countries will be invited to contribute to the finalization of the plan for the conference.

It was stressed that despite all the meetings, available tools and frameworks, little impact has been made in nutrition. Resource mobilization and priorities of donors were mentioned as some of the challenges to scaling up nutrition interventions. Priorities of donors do not always match the objectives and plans of governments. Additionally, resources for nutrition seem to be scattered and it is difficult for governments to identify all available funding options.

With regard to the SUN Framework, it was emphasized that SUN is not an initiative or a programme, but builds on existing actions. Donors appear very committed to raising funds for nutrition within the SUN Framework. If countries have comprehensive multisectoral plans, in which achievements are tracked, donors will be more supportive to countries. Countries should also encourage donors to realize the linkages, for instance between nutrition and maternal and child health. Governments should further take the lead and clearly determine their gaps and needs, so that donors can demonstrate their support.

#### **Country presentations**

Countries gave presentations in parallel sessions and reported synthesis reports back to the plenary. The main cross-cutting issues, challenges and success of countries were:

#### Nutrition situation:

Under-nutrition in countries is still very high and there has only been slow progress in reducing it. Stunting remains high in all countries with levels between 20 and 42%. Exclusive breastfeeding is low in most countries.

Infectious diseases like HIV and Malaria; cultural feeding practices; food insecurity; poverty; climate changes; lack of political commitment; and brain drain were mentioned among the main causes for nutritional challenges.

#### Policy framework and implementation of interventions:

Botswana, Ghana, Lesotho and Mozambique stressed that strong political commitment exists at high levels. Only few countries have nutrition in their poverty reduction and development plans. Nutrition policies are in place or being developed or improved in all countries. With regard to health and agriculture, national health sector plans as well as food and nutrition policies typically exist. Multisectoral mechanisms are in place, but are sometimes too weak to be effective. Sierra Leone emphasized the existence of a strong coordination platform through REACH.

With regards to interventions, most of the effective interventions are included in national plans and implemented with various degrees of success. Nutrition interventions are furthermore integrated in mother and child health, HIV and other programmes. Some interventions, like school feeding in Kenya and Liberia, have achieved improved coverage. Agriculture interventions seem to focus mainly on crops. With regard to non-health interventions, Lesotho conducted successful trainings of extension workers on food security and Sudan utilized women's association for crop introduction.

#### Success factors:

\_

- Increased awareness of the multisectoral approach
- Existence of political documents and guidelines

- Good community capacity development
- University nutrition trainings as well as public health trainings for nutritionists available
- Health sector leadership in most coordination platforms

#### Challenges:

High level political commitment and funding is lacking in a number of countries. It appears, however, that nutrition in the context of HIV is well-funded in some countries. Financial support from governments is limited in most countries. Nutrition funds that are available are often scattered among different programmes. Weak inter-sectoral collaboration, particularly the poor links between food security and nutrition sectors, has been mentioned by some countries. Furthermore, lack of capacity and absence of accurate data appear to be challenges. Malawi also stressed the need to harmonize intervention packages at community level.

With regards to programmes, the lack of adequate legislation, for instance regarding food fortification, was mentioned.

What is needed to scale up nutrition?

- Nutrition needs to be prioritized as a national development issue
- Advocacy for more effective commitment for implementation
- Nutrition indicators need to be integrated into Health Information Systems
- Coordination and funding mechanisms at different levels need to be defined
- Better research, monitoring and evaluation and nutrition surveillance
- Nutrition and food security interventions need to be integrated into one programme
- Linkages between programmes should be strengthened, especially with regard to HIV and mother and child health
- Curricula need to be developed for agriculture and nutrition
- Stakeholder involvement needs to be strengthened
- Community-level interventions should be improved and harmonized
- Nutrition should be a separate department within the Ministry of Agriculture
- Human resources need to be strengthened

#### Plenary discussion on cross cutting issues: policy development and challenges of scaling up

#### Strengthening capacity:

All countries stressed the issue of limited nutrition capacity. In order to implement and scale up nutrition interventions, more staff will be needed at community level. While more and more countries have trained nutritionists, they might be overqualified for work at community level. Furthermore, salaries are usually not enough to pay skilled nutritionists. Therefore, nutrition skills of low cadres, like nurses, midwifes, community health promoters need to be strengthened, particularly in the area of counselling for infant and young child feeding. It was also mentioned that not only in the health sector, but also within agriculture ministries, there is a need for nutritionists.

#### Getting commitment for nutrition:

Kenya gave the example of the adaptation from a specific vaccine for children under five and that the World Health Assembly motivated the Minister of Health to make the change, since the WHA is an important forum to bring issues on the agenda of ministers.

#### Private sector involvement:

In Uganda, the private sector (both local industries as well as food processing industry) was involved in food fortification and has contributed significantly to making fortification mandatory. Zambia stressed that manufacturers of baby foods are coming into countries and promoting their products through promotional materials during child health weeks.

While IBFAN emphasized the importance of Public Private Partnerships, the challenge of potential conflict of interest remains. Since legal systems in Africa are weak, enforcement is difficult. It was also mentioned that at national level, government and civil society can ensure appropriate involvement of the private sector; it is difficult to monitor activities of the private sector at local levels. Kenya highlighted that, for both NGOs and industries, it is crucial that the government is well organized, has standards and monitors activities of the industry. Also, NGOs need to align their activities with government objectives and guidelines.

Also, GAIN stressed that if rules of fortification are well set out, it will be easier to engage with the private sector.

It was concluded that the WHA needs to be engaged to clarify the issue of Public-Private Partnerships.

#### Perspective from non-health on who should coordinate nutrition:

The National Planning Authority (NPA) in Uganda took the initiative and identified a gap that all the different sectors had vertical interventions. The NPA then identified nutrition as a key issue. It started as a forum and then developed a plan with all different sectors, like trade, gender, agriculture and health. The Ugandan NPA is a neutral body, which is important when it comes to handling multisectoral coordination. If nutrition coordination is left to one ministry, it might only consider its own priorities.

Tanzania highlighted the need for education, especially with regard to politicians. The definitions and complexity of nutrition and food security does not seem to be well understood by political leaders. Engaging politicians will, therefore, be crucial.

The participant from Southern Sudan suggested that the main causes of malnutrition are poverty and lack of knowledge. While enough food is produced, farmers often sell nutrient-rich foods instead of feeding them to their children.

Eritrea shared the information on their food programme, where crops and livestock are given to households, which generates income and food production at the household level.

# Objective 2: To collect country contributions and perspectives on the comprehensive implementation plan

## East Central and Southern Africa Health Community (ECSA-HC) – Dorothy Namuchimba, Manager for Food security and nutrition

The East Central and Southern Africa Health Community (ECSA-HC) a regional inter-governmental health organization, operates in ten countries: Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, Mauritius, Seychelles, Swaziland, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe. ECSA-HC was founded under the Commonwealth Secretariat in 1974 and became autonomous in 1980 under direct control of Member governments. In 2002, it was officially re-named the ECSA Health Community.

The ECSA-HC promotes and encourages efficiency and relevance in the provision of health services in the region and fosters regional cooperation and capacity to address the health needs of member states. ECSA further represents a strong voice and policy advocate for sustainable access to and better health care by every person. It also is a center of learning and excellence to share best practices and to provide advice and expertise.

Food and Nutrition Security is one of the six technical programmes of ECSA-HC. With its mandate to undertake activities and contribute to reduction of malnutrition in the region, ECSA contributes to improvement of nutrition, food safety and security and strengthens capacity of Member States for prevention and control of communicable and non-communicable diseases.

Main achievements of ECSA-HC include: technical support in food fortification; development of manuals on food control; upgrading laboratories through the ECSA Laboratory Proficiency Network; training of country teams in ENA; and providing a database of nutrition professionals.

With regard to food fortification, ECSA-HC is supporting countries to expand their programmes. ECSA-HC is also advocating for policies to support production and consumption of indigenous foods and to create local demand for bio-fortification.

## Overview of the comprehensive implementation plan on maternal, infant and young child nutrition – Francesco Branca, Director of the Department of Nutrition for Health and Development, WHO Geneva

The purpose of the comprehensive implementation plan on maternal, infant and young child nutrition (the Plan) is to increase political commitment to preventing and reducing malnutrition in all its forms, to expedite implementation of the global strategy on infant and young child feeding, and to expand interventions.

The Plan is aimed at Member States, international partners and WHO, which also acts as the Secretariat. It is proposed that national and regional consultations involve a broad range of stakeholders including representatives of different government sectors, organizations in the United Nations system, development banks, donors, civil society and the private sector.

The Plan comprises four main sections:

- Challenges: child under-nutrition (wasting and stunting), low birth weight, micronutrient deficiencies, child overweight, maternal under-nutrition, maternal anemia, maternal overweight, inequities.
- Implementation of policies and programmes to reduce the double burden of malnutrition: Although all Member States have nutrition policies and programmes, they have not always been officially adopted, do not comprehensively address all the nutrition challenges and do not articulate operational plans and programmes of work.
- Objectives, targets and timeframe: global targets will be defined for the identified challenges and specific quantitative targets will be defined at country level. The overall time frame for the plan is ten years. After five years, short-term outcomes will be assessed.
- Actions are split into five different categories:
  - 1. To create a supportive environment for the implementation of comprehensive food and nutrition policies
  - 2. To include all required effective health interventions with an impact on nutrition in plans for scaling up
  - 3. To stimulate the implementation of non-health interventions with an impact on nutrition
  - 4. To provide adequate human and financial resources for the implementation of health interventions with an impact on nutrition
  - 5. To monitor and evaluate the implementation of policies and programmes

The full text of the Plan is available at: <a href="http://www.who.int/nutrition/EB128">www.who.int/nutrition/EB128</a>

#### Discussion on the Comprehensive Implementation Plan

The presentation was followed by a discussion on a number of questions and participants provided the following feedback on the comprehensive implementation plan (CIP or the Plan):

#### Does it serve the general purpose?

South Africa: There is poor understanding of what nutrition is, which could be the reason for not getting enough attention on nutrition from politicians. There is a need to advocate and educate for nutrition. For those who do not have a good understanding of nutrition, the CIP might not fulfil its purpose.

Uganda: The CIP should include a basic definition of nutrition, so that other relevant sectors understand what we talk about. Also, the consequences of malnutrition on school performance, national development and the like should be highlighted in the plan.

Namibia: Nutrition is not only a health issue, but since this plan will be presented at the WHA, it will only involve the health sector. We need to make sure that other sectors are part of this process from the inception of this document.

Zambia: It would be useful to stress the importance of repositioning nutrition in the center of development. It would be important to explain the role that nutrition has to improve development.

HKI: There is a concern regarding the link of CIP to SUN. Since SUN has been widely endorsed, it might be a problem to have another document, like CIP, that is not clearly linked to the SUN Framework. The specific actions are very much related to the 1,000 days initiative. While the actions related to the health sector are the strength of WHO, actions outside the health sector are defined very broadly in the plan and should be left to other sectors to elaborate.

#### Are the challenges too broad? Is there a need for regional specificities?

IBFAN: The CIP is very ambitious and tries to cover too many issues. The Lancet series of 2008 came up with a set of high impact interventions. However, in the Plan, a number of additional interventions are included, which might overburden countries. It is important to focus on the main critical interventions. For the African context, we need to be very specific and agree on what we can do immediately.

Uganda: The challenges that are mentioned in the Plan are mainly related to nutrition outcomes. There are a number of challenges with regard to the specific interventions. The challenges in the CIP should also address the systematic issues on how to implement and scale up interventions. Countries require global guidance on that. Furthermore, the issue of behaviour change needs to be stressed more in the Plan.

PATH: The CIP needs to be aligned with the SUN framework to make sure that we don't come up with something different from what is known and recognized by countries and donors already.

WHO responded to the concerns raised by HKI and PATH by explaining that when the Global Action Plan for Nutrition was developed, countries had asked about legitimacy of the Plan. The Secretariat brought this up in a report and asked for a more legitimate document. WHO, as the Secretariat, makes sure that all developments related to the SUN movement are regularly brought to the discussion at the WHA. It will be important to have full legitimacy and for countries to have ownership through the WHA, which is run by the Member States. It was also emphasized that CIP is not an initiative but is being aligned with SUN.

WFP: The challenges of implementation should be stressed in the CIP. The implementation modalities for scaling up need to be explained.

Zambia: It needs to come out very clearly in the Plan that it focuses on Infant and Young Child Nutrition. However, there should be mention of water and sanitation as well as the environment in the Plan.

#### Are the objectives, targets and time frame adequate and specific enough?

Uganda: It would be important to have exact timelines for the actions in the Plan. If the Plan is covering ten years, for instance, guidelines for implementation should be developed by WHO in the beginning rather than towards the end of the timeframe of the Plan.

There is also a need for a general target, similar to the MDGs. Countries will then be able to measure their achievements against this target.

South Africa: Setting timeframes will be difficult if we don't know how to address the current challenges.

## For policies and programmes, should there be a full menu of interventions or a prioritisation of interventions? Are all challenges adequately addressed through the interventions?

Sierra Leone: It will be important that countries define their priorities from this Plan.

Zambia: The interventions in the Plan are detailed with regard to under-nutrition, but for overweight and NCDs, the interventions are not as specific.

HKI: The prioritization of interventions outside the health sector will be more difficult, because the evidence is not as strong. With regard to overweight and obesity, while it is still 8% among children in Africa and we need to include it, the focus of the plan should be on underweight.

IBFAN: The major focus of the WHA resolution was on the code and on scaling up the Global WHO/UNICEF infant and young child feeding strategy. It will be important to focus on the WHA resolution and not cover too many issues in the Plan.

MSF: It will be important to have all effective interventions in the Plan, but when it comes to the implementation in country, a country-specific strategy should be designed.

Micronutrient Initiative: While the evidence for the effectiveness of the interventions mentioned in the SUN Framework is available, we need to encourage studies that assess the delivery mechanisms and the operational issues.

WHO: There is currently a big gap and WHO is working together with many partners, such as MI, to develop a decision tree on the implementation of the different interventions.

Zambia: It will be important that this Plan highlights the linkages between health and agriculture, particularly at the community level, where, for instance, food security programmes will be essential to sustain the positive outcome of a child treated from severe acute malnutrition.

ECSA-HC: There is a lot that countries can learn from each other. There are many good practice examples, but it seems they are not being shared adequately. It appears that we keep doing the same things, but don't realize what has been done already.

WHO: There is a global database on implementation of good practices, which we want to make available and share the experiences of country programmes as well as of NGOs.

#### Finances – should there be more on costing or finance mechanisms?

Kenya: Since the creation of the Global Fund, Kenya has made significant achievements in the fight against Tuberculosis and Malaria.

Sierra Leone: It might be useful if the WHA could commit ministries of health to allocate a certain percentage of their budget to nutrition.

Sudan: There are a number of forums in which nutrition is neglected and which we could use to discover new sources of funding.

Tanzania: The health ministry is the most sympathetic for nutrition, and moving nutrition concerns to the Prime Minister's office or to the agriculture ministry has not worked in Tanzania. There is a need for an advocacy tool since approximately 50% of child deaths are attributable to malnutrition. We need to better explain these relevant facts to our health ministries.

WFP: Even if we get a "Global Fund for Nutrition" in the future, we need to ensure the rationalization presently available funding for nutrition programming. We need to find a way to share funds and burdens among ministries and community health workers.

Uganda: While it would be a positive step to have a "Global Fund for Nutrition", we nevertheless have to address systemic issues of implementation and scaling up.

Liberia: The Plan contains a list of different interventions, among which the countries need to prioritize. It would be important to have costing for these different interventions to facilitate this prioritization process. Regardless of whether there will be a "Global Fund for Nutrition", we need to integrate nutrition into HIV, TB and/or malaria proposals.

#### Monitoring – proposal for accountability mechanisms?

Ghana: Monitoring and evaluation, as well as data management, is very weak for nutrition programming. It would be useful to have a set of agreed indicators on which we should report. WHO has done a lot of work on surveillance and integration of nutrition into Integrated Disease Surveillance and Response (IDSR, but only a few countries have achieved such integration thus far.

IBFAN: We need agreed definitions for indicators, such as exclusive breast feeding. Definitions in different countries vary; furthermore, surveys are not done regularly or in a consistent manner. It is important that we have comparable data to share.

Namibia: There is a lack of funding to do agricultural evaluations, and while FAO has a set of indicators, these need to be shared with the countries.

#### **Roles and responsibilities?**

Sierra Leone: It would be important to have clear Terms of Reference (ToR) of partners in the plan

Uganda: This document should also be taken forward by FAO or The Committee on World Food Security through their governing mechanisms to ensure that the agricultural sector is part of this plan.

MSF: It needs to be clarified who should be part of the policy design. Particularly with respect to the private sector, the involvement of different entities has to be clearly specified. It is also important to draw a line between policy development and policy implementation as well as to set forth who should be involved at which level.

GAIN: The private sector is very innovative in reaching consumers and we need to engage with them.

#### Overall reporting on plan implementation? What should go in reports? Who should be the recipients?

Kenya: Reports should have different content for different actors. For instance, nutritionists might be more interested in the technical part of a report.

The indicator list is changing and is based on different criteria and the need to monitor from input to outcome. We need to set indicators, where we have the possibility to collect data. It will be important to have agreement on the indicators, which we can use for global comparison and country level accountability.

#### **Country success stories**

#### Salt iodization and Vitamin A supplementation in Tanzania

*Salt iodization* was formally launched in 1994. At this time, there was already iodized salt on the market, but the challenge was to iodize salt from small scale salt producers (SSSP). To initiate a specific programme, an inventory of SSSP was conducted.

The objectives were to map the SSSPs, establish their production scales, assess their capacities for salt iodization and define gaps and needs with regard to production.

A total of around 6,500 SSSPs were identified, and they used different methods for salt iodization: spraying (57%), dripping (28%) and mixers (6%). The majority of producers had very small production levels of 0-100 metric tons per year.

Prior to the inventory, almost none of the SSSPs had iodized salt. The reasons given for not iodizing salt were limited access to potassium iodate, lack of equipment, no demand from consumers, high costs of iodization and lack of training.

As part of the recommendations of this inventory, awareness was raised, and SSSPs were trained on iodization and quality control. Furthermore, equipment and supplies were provided as well as monitoring and supportive supervision.

As an outcome of combined efforts to raise public awareness on salt iodization, demand for iodized salt went up and policy makers and salt dealers were sensitized.

The impact was measured through the Tanzania Demographic Health Survey in 2010, which showed that almost 90% of households are now consuming iodized salt, of which 47% have salt with adequate iodine levels.

The supportive supervision to SSSPs is ongoing and the salt regulations are being enforced through inspections and legal action. It is also currently being negotiated to include potassium iodate in the list of National Essential Drugs.

The main activities of the *Vitamin A supplementation programme* include half-yearly Child Health Days, integrated with deworming and guidelines for Vitamin A supplementation. Tools are available for supervision, data collection and budgeting. All districts have been trained on Vitamin A supplementation and budgeting. Furthermore, advocacy work is ongoing to sensitize politicians and officials at national and regional levels, especially in low performing districts, as well as to sensitize development partners. Monitoring and evaluation of the programme is done through budget tracking, coverage tracking and post-event coverage surveys.

The main constraints of the programme are that the degree of institutionalization is uncertain and foodbased approaches have been neglected. There is a need to revive efforts for food-based approaches. Since there is also a threat of donors pulling out, it will be crucial to ensure government commitment to fully take over the programme.

#### Flour fortification in Uganda

Micronutrient deficiencies in Uganda are high with 20% of children and 19% of women being Vitamin A deficient. Further, Iron deficiency affects 73% of children and 49% of women.

In response to the micronutrient challenges, the government has introduced the Universal Salt lodization programme in 1994, which made salt iodization mandatory. In 2000, fortification was expanded to other food products commonly consumed, like maize flour, wheat and oil. Currently, with support from the Global Alliance for Improved Nutrition (GAIN), four wheat producers and four oil producers are fortifying. Through WFP, three producers are being supported to fortify maize. Fortification of sugar is under discussion. The strong coordination and collaboration in this effort has led to involvement of more development partners (USAID, UNICEF and WFP) with the public, private and civil society. Political commitment led to including food fortification as a strategy for elimination of micronutrient deficiencies in the National Food and Nutrition Policy. Furthermore, the government has exempted taxes on fortificants. Costs for fortification are being shared between the Ministry of Health, donors and industries. The successes of the fortification programmes have resulted in 98% households consuming iodized salt and 85% of oil being fortified with Vitamin A.

Main challenges include limited capacity to regulate and monitor standards and the lack of laboratories to test. Industries are partly lacking the ability to confirm to standards and technology. There are still many small producers that are not fortifying.

#### Infant and young child feeding in Ghana

The National Plan of Action for Nutrition in 2000 included infant and young child feeding (IYCF) as a priority. The year 2002 saw an IYCF assessment and the appointment of a National IYCF coordinator in addition to a coordinator for the Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative (BFHI). Ghana has a breast feeding policy, as well as an IYCF strategy, in addition to guidelines on HIV and infant feeding. Twenty-seven percent of facilities are certified as "baby friendly", as part of the BFHI.

There is also legislation for breastfeeding promotion in place.

Breastfeeding counseling has been integrated in antenatal services and trainings on BFHI and IYCF are being conducted for pre- and in-service.

The IYCF programme includes a strong community outreach and support through mother-to-mother as well as father- and grandmother-support groups. Community implementation of the programme also includes malaria control, annual Maternal and Child Health Weeks as well as community-based milling and fortification. At the community level, NGOs are supporting the implementation. The LINKAGES project was helping the preparation of counseling cards for mothers, grandmother and fathers groups. As part of the programme, curricula of health training institutions were reviewed. There is also strong support from partners, like UNICEF and WHO, and collaboration with the Ministry of Finance for this programme.

The main challenges of the programme are that the International Labour Organization Maternity Protection Convention has not been ratified. Funding for BFHI is limited and monitoring of certified facilities is lacking. There is also high staff turnover in institutions and refresher training is often inadequate. The challenge of harmonizing information and education materials was also stressed, as well as the lack of research for IYCF.

#### Malnutrition: integrated community programmes in Malawi and Nigeria

#### Malawi

The Community based therapeutic care (CTC) programme was introduce in 2002 in one district and was consequently expanded to other districts. In 2006, it was adopted as a national strategy. The reasons for adopting CTC in Malawi were the limited access to services for most children in need for care, as well as increased case load, with which the health care system could not cope. Prevention and management of malnutrition is part of the National Development Agenda and acute malnutrition is recognized as a threat to child survival by the Malawian government, which shows a strong leadership in the programme. This enabling environment is further supported by partners' contribution to the programme, in terms of both supplies and technical support. CTC has been institutionalized in Malawi through inclusion of malnutrition prevention and management in national development strategies and through the setting up a multi-stakeholder CTC Advisory Committee. Standardization of services is ensured through guidelines and trainings, facilitated by a pool of trainers at national and district level. The treatment and management of acute malnutrition is also

integrated into other programmes, like Integrated Management of Childhood Illnesses and Infant and Young Child Feeding. Local production of Ready-to-use-therapeutic foods (RUTF) is currently being accredited and scaled up.

As of December 2010, all 28 districts are reached with Nutrition Rehabilitation Units (NRU), Supplementary Feeding Programmes as well as Out-Patient Programmes (OTP). OTP sites have increased from 32 in 2004 to 418 in 2010.

Cure rates of the programme are above 80% and death rates below 10%.

The CTC programme also serves as a good entry point for HIV services, since 28% of patients at NRUs are HIV infected.

Main challenges of the programme are the need for resources, retention of community volunteers and weak monitoring and reporting.

The government will continue to advocate for CTC; strengthen the domestic resource allocation through District Implementation Plans and budgets; and strengthen district and community systems through Community Nutrition and HIV workers.

#### Nigeria

The Community-based Management of Acute Malnutrition (CMAM) programme in Northern Nigeria is a good example from moving from a model programme to expansion. The programme has been implemented in the eight Sahel states and over 50,000 children have been admitted to the programme by March 2011. An evaluation of access and coverage showed that the programme had a 45% defaulter rate and a 52% cure rate. An assessment of possible reason for the high defaulter rates showed that defaults took place after the first visit. Most defaulters were within 30 minutes walking distance from the OTP site. However, there was a weak link between volunteers and health workers, which affected the follow up.

Among the lessons learnt, it was shown that the CMAM programme in Northern Nigeria increased the utilization of Primary Health Care facilities, an uptake of antenatal care, routine immunization and other services. It was also demonstrated that partnerships can lead to leverage of huge financial and human resource capacity to scale up the programme.

The plans for the future are to expand CMAM to over 400 sites by the end of 2011 and reach 150,000 severely malnourished children and to integrate IYCF counseling in CMAM sites to ensure prevention.

## Nutrition-sensitive food and agriculture-based approaches – Leslie Amoroso, Nutrition and Consumer Protection Division (AGN), FAO

Nutrition makes an important contribution to the achievement of each of the MDGs. FAO works with its Member States and the international community to achieve the MDGs.

Agriculture has three purposes: to produce foods for consumption; to support livelihoods, provide employment opportunities and generate incomes; and to protect and safeguard the environment for future generations in terms of land, soil and water and the flora and fauna.

FAO is working to better integrate nutrition into agriculture, food security and vulnerability policy frameworks. The terminology of "food and nutrition security" best describes the integration of nutrition into food security. Including nutrition underscores the need to not only look at the quantity of food but also the quality in terms of variety, diversity and nutrient content and care.

Food and agriculture-based strategies focus on food as the primary tool for improving the quality of the diet and for addressing and preventing malnutrition and nutritional deficiencies.

Poor, monotonous diets low in quantity and quality lead to hunger and malnutrition. Food and agriculture-based approaches address this problem by making more food available and accessible and by providing nutrition education and dietary counselling.

There is a need to increase access to and consumption of rich and diverse diets. Simple technologies that can help improve consumption patterns include: diversified production of fruits and vegetables with micronutrient rich varieties; production of animal source foods; investment in sustainable forest and pasture management; protection of biodiversity; selection of crops based on nutritional content in

addition to yields and market value; increasing availability of and access to fertilizers; reducing postharvest losses; and training extension staff and households in basic nutrition and food preparation skills. FAO held an *International Symposium on Food and Nutrition Security: Food based approaches for improving diets and raising levels of nutrition* to collect and better document evidence that demonstrates the impact and effectiveness of nutrition-sensitive, food-based approaches.

FAO's policy response to improving food and nutrition security includes technical assistance; promotion of nutrition-sensitive agriculture policies and programmes; capacity building; nutrition education strategies; promotion of improved family feeding practices and complementary feeding; conducting baseline surveys; promoting small-scale food processing and preservation techniques; and improving water harvesting and irrigation systems.

## Education Trials of Improved Practices (TIPs) for complementary feeding – Charity Diroimwe, Nutrition consultant for FAO

FAO has been promoting improved complementary feeding in a number of countries through comprehensive food-based approaches, promoting a variety of nutritious, safe and culturally acceptable diets.

Feeding recommendations and complementary feeding recipes have been developed and tested through formative research process called "Trials of Improved Practices" (TIPs). TIPs has been first used in nutrition programming in the 1980s and is based on a process of formative research that uses quick, interactive information-gathering methods with mothers and other key people. During consultative research, nutrition related information on nutrient content of locally available foods and key cultural and personal concerns are examined. Changes in behaviour and feeding practices are discussed and negotiated with the family who then agree to try one or two new practices.

FAO has been using the TIPs approach since 2002 in Zambia, Afghanistan, Laos and Cambodia. In all the four countries intersectoral teams have been set up, consisting of health, agriculture and education ministry as well as women's unions, and community workers.

TIPs is a very consultative process and in the four countries, dialogues have been held between community and service providers and TIPs facilitating teams documented the acceptability and feasibility. Furthermore, seasonal food availability calendars have been developed in a participatory manner. The calendars have been excellent tools to strengthen food production and utilization by raising awareness of available foods and by facilitating effective planning of food security interventions to fill gaps.

As an outcome of the projects, feeding recommendations and seasonal specific complementary feeding recipes have been developed and tested. Examples were given for recipes for the different age groups (6-8, 9-11 and 12-24 months), specifying the amounts per raw ingredients and per final cooked meal. Based on the seven food groups recommended by WHO for complementary feeding, minimum dietary diversity was defined.

The project findings showed that dietary diversity was possible using local foods. An example from Cambodia was given where the inclusion of leafy vegetables, fish, eggs, meat to the diet of children between 6 and 24 months was successful after introduction of TIPs.

Families were very interested to learn about child feeding and about 70% of families managed to prepare and feed nutritionally improved porridges 3-5 days a week. It was also shown that mothers shared their skills with others and continued feeding improved complementary foods even after TIPs was completed.

The main challenges of the projects were seasonal food availability; time constraints during planting season; affordability of micronutrient-rich foods; meeting iron and zinc requirements; and scaling the project up to national level.

It would be important to support appropriate food processing and preservation to extend the availability of nutrient-rich foods throughout the year and to continue Vitamin A supplementation, iron fortification and explore the use of micronutrient powders to fill micronutrient gaps.

## Community programmes linking nutrition and food security – Evidence based interventions in FAO projects in Lesotho and Malawi – Brian Thompson, FAO

Malnutrition impacts agricultural in different ways: reduced ability to do work; loss of earnings; loss of knowledge and skills; increased expenditures; and impoverishment of households. Malnutrition also impacts food security through increased fatigue, absenteeism, and decline in productive family members. Research from Tanzania has shown that per capita food consumption in the poorest households decreased by 15%.

Nutrition is a cross-cutting issue in which all sectors should be involved, not just the health sector. With most people in Africa dependent on the primary sector for their livelihood, agriculture plays a key role. There are a number of lessons to be learned from an inter-agency project on protecting and improving food and nutrition security of orphans and HIV/AIDS affected children in Lesotho and Malawi. Target beneficiaries in this project were community-based, district, and national level institutions, active in this area, as well as orphans and children affected by HIV/AIDS and/or food insecurity. Activities of this programme included nutrition/health care and support; food security and livelihoods support; and institutional capacity building for delivery of support services.

To improve food and nutrition security, production of crops and vegetables were promoted as well as post-harvest initiative, diversification, and bio-intensive agricultural techniques. For income generation, beneficiaries received food security and nutrition education, fuel saving stoves were introduced, as were income-generating activities.

Training and education activities included promotion of school enrolment and retention as well as early childhood care and development. The project also had a social welfare component and aimed to improve access to health services.

Through participation in different fora at grassroot, national and international levels, innovations and good practices generated by the project have been published locally and internationally.

The project showed very positive impacts on risk behaviours, slowed spread of HIV, extended and improved quality of life; and reduced vulnerability.

However there is a need for better monitoring and evaluation tools to assess the impact of policies nad programmes and effective models of integrated nutrition-sensitive agriculture programmes. Furthermore, programmes need to go beyond simply improving access to food, they must also influence food utilization.

For the future, it will be important to document and apply the lessons learnt in community-based, interagency multi-sectoral actions and ensure greater collaboration between donors, UN agencies, national stakeholders and local communities. It will also be crucial to have active participation in the preparations at national and regional levels for the ICN+20.

#### Discussion on agriculture and other non-health interventions

Sierra Leone emphasize that the extension systems are very weak, since it is difficult to motivate people to work for unattractive salaries. It might be practical to use farmers as extension workers to fill the gap.

Following the question on which crops should be grown, it was suggested that this would depend on the nutritional gaps observed in the respective communities. A TIPs approach can help close nutrition gaps at the community level. At the same time, particularly for other age groups, it would be crucial to look at the extent of the lean season. It needs to be assessed if production should be improved or for instance storage capacities or post-harvest losses. The type of soil and availability of agricultural land is another

thing that should be looked into. In terms of animal sources food, the possibilities of small animal production should be explored to avoid the environmental impact of bigger animal production. Rabbit production was mentioned as an example, since the feed for rabbits does not compete with food for human use.

There are certain crops that give good results and have high nutrient values. For instance fruit trees, like papayas.

It was stressed that introducing animal source foods to the diet of children between 6 and 24 months, remains a major challenge. However using animal source foods 1-2 times per week, would already be a major achievement.

# Objective 3: To explore the commitment to supporting implementation of proposed actions

#### Working groups on effective interventions

#### Behavioural interventions and education

The main policy challenges include weak consultation on new policies at all levels as well as weak structures at lower levels to implement policies. Policies related to HIV and infant feeding are normally formulated and implemented at varying levels with the IYCF policies, but integration at policy formulation is weak. It was also mentioned that completion of policy and guideline formulation takes long from the time from when they are formulated at WHO level. Dissemination of new policies also does not always reach the lower levels.

Under challenges related to advocacy the group mentioned the need for good quality data, clear and simple messages, good evidence, findings from similar good practice programs, identification of champions at political level, alignment of policies, follow up or implementation plans.

The lack of capacity to implement and to manage policies as well as weak monitoring and evaluation was highlighted as the main challenges of implementation.

As solutions, Liberia suggested to strengthen community ownership through integration at community level by getting them involved and training them. South Africa stressed the importance of involving the media and ensuring that nutrition messages and plans are understood.

Proposed interventions include engaging in dialogue at all levels; involving and empowering men; communicating the importance of breastfeeding; and strengthening in- and pre-service curricula of health workers. At policy level, it will be crucial to have advocacy tools and identify a champion. Having simple monitoring and evaluation tools in place will help getting reliable data for which indicators need to be harmonized and simplified. It has also been shown that mother-to-mother support groups at the community level can be very useful, as well as involving traditional birth attendants to promote breastfeeding. Before programmes are being implemented at community level, plans have to be communicated well with health workers and there needs to be follow up to trainings and supervision for health workers.

Support for implementation and scaling up will require that donors put more focus on nutrition and nutrition priorities are adequately advocated during meetings with ministers. It was also stressed that partners should follow up on implementation and that delivery mechanisms should be well specified when new guidelines are developed. Liberia mentioned the importance of taskshifting by empowering others to take over responsibilities. For instance nurses should be trained in clinical nutrition and doctors in their role as decision makers might play important roles in shifting more focus on nutrition in funding of health interventions. The group furthermore stressed the importance of country ownership and leadership by having a mechanism in place to monitor activities and funds and by building local capacity instead of involvement of external consultants.

In the discussion it was suggested that local media, like radios can play an important role in changing behaviour. Training local journalists can help to ensure consistency of messages. The need for country specific behaviour change communication strategies was also stressed. With regard to the private sector, South Africa explained that they are trying to ban adverts addressed to children.

#### Malnutrition, targeted interventions and other health interventions

Policies are in place for the interventions related to severe acute malnutrition. Nutrition support for patients with Tuberculosis is not reflected in all policies of countries. Supplementation for women with low body mass index is also rarely part of national policies. Supplementation is mainly related to pregnant and lactating women. In South-Africa for instance, HIV and TB are placed in social protection or education policies. Liberia and Sierra Leone mentioned that pregnant and lactating women are also integrated under agriculture and under small holder commercialization programmes.

The main challenges for implementation and scaling up are that nutrition is not visible within the health system as well as the lack of human resources, particularly at facility level to implement activities. The lack of main indicators to follow up as well as financial, supply and logistic constraints were also mentioned as challenges of implementation.

As solutions to overcome these challenges, the group suggested to increase awareness of nutrition at the highest political level; to develop multi-sectoral plans; to improve surveillance and data to advocate for resource; to use regional Member States institutions for advocacy; to use champions for advocacy; and to sstrengthen coordination among different actors.

The support needed to scale up includes technical, financial and logistic support, as well as support to strengthen monitoring and evaluation; capacity of health staff; to set up a platform for coordination and integration of interventions; and to share best practices.

With regard to other health interventions, interventions such as deworming of children and pregnant women, prevention of mother to child transmission of HIV, and hand washing are included in all national nutrition policies. Reduction of indoor air pollution and the prevention and control of occupational risks in pregnancy are not included in the policies of Liberia, Uganda, Ghana, Sierra- Leone, Tanzania, Malawi, Zambia, Kenya and Botswana.

In South Africa, all relevant other health interventions, mentioned in the Comprehensive Implementation Plan are reflected in policy documents.

The group suggested that interventions related to EPI, Integrated Management of Childhood illnesses and NCDs should be included in the Comprehensive Implementation Plan under "other health interventions".

To support the implementation and scale up of these other health interventions, there is a need to strengthen the link between nutrition and other health interventions, as well as to ensure integration and mainstreaming of nutrition into other health interventions.

#### **Micronutrient interventions**

The group highlighted that there is need to have a policy on the supplementation of iron in malaria endemic areas. It was also noted that delivery mechanisms for Vitamin A and iron vary from country to country (routine, campaigns, early childhood centres or schools). There is currently no policy on duration, and compliance related to iron supplementation for adolescent girls in schools. The group further stressed the need for human resources and involvement of community health workers to give vitamin A. Other issues that were raised included the distribution of Zinc with ORS in the community; the need for resources in campaigns and child health days; and the need to include supplementation in school health policies.

The main challenges for micronutrient interventions are lack of human resource, in particular health workers and community volunteers; sensitization and monitoring mechanisms for home fortification; monitoring of food fortification; and logistics for instance for distribution of iron supplements to schools.

Suggestions were made to overcome these challenges through trainings: in-service, as well as staff from other sectors and community volunteers. Furthermore there is a need for advocacy to achieve policy change. The integration of Behaviour Change Communication and TIPs and other services into micronutrient programmes, as well as the development of guidelines were also suggested as a solution.

In the discussion it was mentioned that guidelines on iron in malaria affected areas are currently being revised and will be published soon. Weekly iron/folate supplementation is being recommended now to help increase compliance. It is also important to note for countries when implementing supplementation programmes, that when Vitamin A supplementation is for instance moved from child health days to more sustainable integrated approaches, the coverage is expected to go down. A concern was raised related to Vitamin A supplementation at community level. Since doctors appear to be concerned about Vitamin A overdoses, there is resistance to use community health workers for supplementation programmes.

It was also stressed by participants that food-bases approaches are crucial in preventing micronutrient deficiencies and need to be included in the list of interventions in the Comprehensive Implementation Plan.

#### Nutrition-sensitive food and agriculture-based approaches

Gender is a key issue to consider in such interventions given that the majority of farmers are female and women are also key in infant and young child nutrition. The group further highlighted the need to consider the social and cultural practices that surround women.

With regard to the farm to table approach, it would be crucial to consider breeding of high nutrient crops, as well as research on nutrition specific problems and gender sensitive technologies. Furthermore the need to improve traits for nutritious and local foods as well as to breed varieties tolerant to climate change was mentioned in the discussions.

In terms of production, small scale production of nutrient rich foods and small scale production should be increased.

It was also mentioned that gender sensitive and labour saving technologies need to be promoted as well as the production and consumption of healthy foods through education. Education will also be important with regards to preparation, processing, budgeting, preservation and storage for better retention of nutrients and reduction of post-harvest losses.

In the discussion it was mentioned that a lot of focus has been put on small scale farmers. The group justified that by the fact that in Africa most farmers are small scale farmers and interventions addressing household farmers have been shown to improve household food security.

It was also mentioned that there is a need for indicators in agriculture to measure process.

#### Social protection

Current social protection programmes in countries include school feeding, cash transfers, food for work, supplementary feeding, social grants, and food for prescription.

Target groups are usually elderly people, vulnerable groups (including HIV+), Orphans or Vulnerable Children (OVCs) and pregnant teen-agers.

For some programmes, for instance in Ghana and South Africa, the implementation is nation-wide. Most often though it appears scattered or only focused on specific areas.

Programmes use different mechanisms or tools, like voucher, banks payments, electronic transfers, through communities or through the private sector.

The main challenges of social protection programmes highlighted by the group are sustainability, accountability and transparency.

The group suggested a number of success factors, like creating linkages to the broader social issues, ensuring community ownership, strong committment of government, collaboration within the communities and efforts to switch to more sustainable activities.

The main challenges of social protection programmes appear to be lack of government commitment, lack of funds, sustainability, intersectoral linkages, capacity, overdependance on donors and not reaching the right target.

The group empasized the need for broader integration with other social programs and to tailor social protection programs in a way to make an impact on nutrition.

It was concluded, that existing social protection programs have the potential to address the nutritional needs of the most vulnerable. To increase their potential less financial dependancy will be crucial, as well as improved accountability, sustainability and transperancy.

#### Implementation mechanisms and tools

## Scaling Up Nutrition: the role of civil society - Nathalie Ernoult, Policy Advisor for MSF Access Campaign

MSF is an international medical humanitarian organization, providing aid in about 60 countries to people whose survival is threatened by conflict, epidemics, malnutrition or natural disasters. MSF strives to provide high quality care to patients and ensures access to existing medical tools. The yearly funding of MSF is on average 40 Million US Dollars.

The experiences of MSF contributed to discussions on models of care on for instance decentralized treatment of acute malnutrition and early intervention on children under 2 years of age.

The main challenges are that these interventions are usually implemented by INGOs in humanitarian context. There is therefore a need to integrate them as part of the health package for the long run. To ensure this integration, participation of Civil Society Organizations (CSO) is key.

Malnutrition is currently moving from the humanitarian to the development agenda with the need of sustained commitment of all actors, in particular of CSOs. Furthermore a range of CSOs have good records in the health and non-health sector, which can be mobilized.

Civil Society Organizations are on the ground at the contact with the people in need, even in the most remote places. CSOs already play a key role in supporting decentralization of the health structures at district and local level. They can furthermore support, train and reinforce the health system in human resources.

CSOs are therefore key actors to scaling up nutrition activities by contributing to policy decisions and pushing for funding commitments for countries, generating nutrition awareness, and participating in Research and Development for improved programme delivery.

## Country process: Policy briefs for Country Scale up plans – Chizuru Nishida, Coordinator for Nutrition Policy and Scientific Advise, WHO Department for Nutrition

One of the background papers for the implementation of the WHA resolution on IYCN described the proposed process for developing country scale-up plans.

The proposed process includes five steps:

- Step 1 is a context mapping and assessment of implementation challenges in countries, which can include a Landscape Analysis Country Assessment, a participatory assessment and analysis of readiness to scale-up nutrition action. Tools are available for national provincial, district, facility level and NGOs. Currently 13 countries have conducted the Landscape Analysis country assessment. Other assessment tools, like the REACH assessment could be used for this stage.
- Step 2 includes a country stakeholder s workshop to discuss and identify existing challenges for implementing scale-up plans. This should be a 1-2 day meeting with a wide range of technical level stakeholders. In-depth technical discussions should be held on priority problems, possible interventions, delivery channels, financing options, potential coverage, as well as available evidence for what works in practice in the concerned country context.

- Step 3 is an analysis of programme delivery options and preparation of policy briefs, where the country team supported by local experts and researchers prepares strategic operational plans. Policy briefs will include operational requirements, expected coverage, as well as decision trees for the interventions.
- Step 4 will include deliberative dialogues in a 1-2 days stakeholder meeting of high level policy makers and interested donors to discuss and validate the evidence-base and contextual issues related to the prepared policy briefs. The appropriate policy options will then be collectively selected. This meeting should further ensure political commitment of the national government and identify and secure required funds for the implementation and monitoring and evaluation.
- Step 5 will be the preparation of scale-up plan, which should be based on collectively selected and agreed evidence-informed policy options, including targets, programme areas to be covered, delivery options, responsibilities of stakeholders, capacity needs, financial investment, monitoring and evaluation mechanism and plans on how to implement social mobilization. Scale-up plans will need to be aligned with overall plans of concerned sectors as well as the broader development agenda and strategies.

## REACH –joint approach to ending child hunger – Ferima Coulibaly-Zerbo, Technical officer for nutrition for West Africa, WHO

REACH: Ending Child Hunger and Undernutrition Partnership was jointly established by the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), World Health Organization (WHO), United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and the World Food Programme (WFP). In addition to the contribution of the founding UN partner agencies, REACH draws on the support of NGOs, academic institutions and private sector actors.

The REACH process builds consensus on the magnitude of nutritional challenges and the need for new approaches to scaling-up coverage for the most disadvantaged. Food security, child and maternal health, and care must all be taken into account when analyzing the causes of hunger and malnutrition, as well as when formulating and delivering responses. REACH specifically engages stakeholders to improve: 1) infant and young child feeding; 2) hygiene and sanitation; 3) micronutrient intake; 4) parasite control; 5) treatment of acute malnutrition; and 6) household food security. This coordinated approach to good governance and institutional capacity building ensures more effective and coherent food and nutrition actions.

Essential conditions for scaling up nutrition actions include motivation, commitment, responsibility and moral imperative in the leadership and capacity in terms of human resources, institutional strengthening and an enabling policy and socioeconomic environment.

Functional capacities necessary to enable the sustainable development of technical capacities entail policy and action planning, coordination, implementation, knowledge sharing, financing and communication.

Capacity development builds upon existing capacities at the individual, the organization and the policy level.

REACH employs a phased approach with a view to mainstreaming REACH into regular government work and activity.

At present, REACH is supporting nutrition and food security activities in Bangladesh, Lao PDR, Mauritania, and Sierra Leone. In Sierra Leone for instance REACH is aiming to link the National Food and Nutrition Policy with the CAADP investment plan.

The approach is predicated on expert facilitation and a participative process, spearheaded by two REACH facilitators (one international and one national) who work closely with government counterparts and other stakeholders. REACH further provides a platform for join advocacy to elevate nutrition on

national agendas and identifies clear synergies. Another important feature of REACH is that it maximizes the impact of existing investments and systematically mobilizes additional resources for scaling up.

## Global nutrition governance – United Nations Standing Committee on Nutrition (UNSCN), Lina Mahy, UNSCN

The UNCSN was established in 1977 as a point of convergence in the area of food and nutrition ensuring that the system wide response is greater than the sum of individual efforts. The UNSCN is also an inclusive platform to support country-led action with the ultimate goal of tackling the double burden of malnutrition and reaching food and nutrition security for all.

The UNSCN is a UN entity mandated to be a point of convergence in harmonizing nutrition policies and activities and providing initiative in the development and harmonization of concepts, policies, strategies and programmes in response to nutritional needs of countries.

Senior Executives of FAO, WHO, UNICEF and WFP are currently considering how the working process of the UNSCN can be improved through its reform.

The functions of a reformed UNSCN would include the provision of a global strategic leadership and advocacy in nutrition; enhancement of dialogues and linkages; harmonization of concepts,

methodologies and guidelines; promotion of exchange of practices and tools; reporting on global trends, progress and result; and engagement and facilitation of dialogue with other stakeholders across health, food security and social protection.

The Global Nutrition Forum provides a space for all key nutrition stakeholders; transparent and inclusive discussions on nutrition solutions; and proposes innovations. The next Global Nutrition Forum is planned on 4-7 October 2011 in Maputo.

The UNSCN produces regular SCN news, reports on the World Nutrition Situation, SCN Nutrition Policy papers. The website of UNSCN also provides a forum for e-groups on moderate malnutrition as well as nutrition and climate change.

The development of the SUN Road Map was also supported by the UNSCN. It provides technical and administrative support to the SUN Transition Team and its six interlinked Task Forces and facilitates access to and exchange of knowledge, practices, tools, standards and harmonized policies. Furthermore, the UNSCN catalyzes and facilitates networking, coordination and communication by linking to the Thousand Day Movement and other global processes.

#### Capacity building – Anu Narayan, Deputy Regional Director- East and Southern Africa for Hellen Keller International

Currently only little is known about knowledge, training and capacity of nutrition personnel in East and Southern Africa. Furthermore, nutrition knowledge and skills do not always trickle down to intended target groups. Overall, there is a critical shortage of nutritionists in most countries, which implies that health and agriculture workers perform the bulk of nutrition activities at health facilities and community levels.

It is estimated that globally 57 countries, have a critical shortage of health workers, of which 36 are in Africa. Studies conducted in East and Southern Africa, as well as West Africa were undertaken to estimate the number of university graduates trained annually. It was shown that there are about 480 Bachelors in the ECSA region and 280 in West Africa, which is both woefully inadequate. The estimated annual need per country is 100-500 implementers, 10-15 planners, and 1-5 policy makers.

HKI jointly with World Bank is currently conducting a Capacity Assessment of the Nutrition Workforce. It was originally planned in four countries: Kenya, Tanzania, Uganda and Zimbabwe. The study is partly co-funded in by UNICEF and FANTA-2/USAID.

The objectives of the research are to collect background information on the numbers and types of personnel working in nutrition at district, facility and community level. The workers' knowledge, training and skills to implement a minimum set of direct nutrition actions will also be assessed. The study is

further aiming to develop an understanding of additional required skills and the type of supporting systems that are needed for better performance of the nutrition workforce.

The research will include a document review, analyses of nutrition curricula, job and task analysis of mid-level workers, focus group discussion with health and agriculture workers and a workshop with key stakeholders.

The analysis of the study will be used to inform national nutrition plans and human resource strategies as countries scale up nutrition actions. The findings will further add evidence to the global discussion on core competencies that the national nutrition workforce should possess. The study will also provide recommendations on the types of cadres to be trained for community-based nutrition activities.

## Monitoring and evaluation – Chizuru Nishida, Coordinator for Nutrition Policy and Scientific Advice, Department of Nutrition, WHO

One of the background papers for the implementation of the WHA resolution on IYCN described the framework for monitoring implementation and accounting for results and resources. This framework relates to the fifth action of the Comprehensive Implementation Plan (CIP) to monitor and evaluate the implementation of policies and programmes. This will require a well defined monitoring framework to assess progress made towards the objectives of the CIP. The framework also has to provide accountability for the actions implemented, as well as resources made available and results. The work on monitoring evaluation as part of the CIP is used for the SUN Task Force F on "Supporting Monitoring and Reporting" of the implementation of the Scaling Up Nutrition Framework at country level.

A first draft of the framework has been prepared in August 2010 with a subset of indicators from the SUN roadmap. This has been submitted to the WHO Executive Board 128 in January 2011 and discussed and harmonized in the SUN Task Force F. The framework is now under final revisions with the Task Force.

The main criteria for core indicators were the ability to be measured in a common way across countries; ability to measure changes so to influence national policy-makers to further invest in nutrition; availability and easy collection of data; and balance of input, output/outcome and impact indicators. Data should further be possible to disaggregate to reflect equity and gender issues.

Currently seven output/outcome indicators have been defined and twelve impact indicators. As part of the next steps, data sources for different indicators will be mapped and existing data collection systems in countries will be assessed. A mapping will also be done of potential data collection capacities. Countries and different actors will be requested to provide information and follow-up. Periodic reports will be prepared with country profiles and baselines.

## Costing nutrition interventions with the One Health Tool – Ursula Trubswasser, Technical focal point for nutrition for Eastern and Southern Africa, WHO

Costing analysis may be done at different levels for different purposes. For instance at health center or hospital level, cost analysis could be used to set user fees or plan facility resources. At sub-national or national level, costing might be done for a national strategy, advocacy or resource mobilization. Cost analysis tools also can have a different scope, from only a specific nutrition programme scope to an overall health sector scope. There are different questions that costing tools can address, like the resources currently used, the resources needed to make services more efficient or the resources needed for planned activities in the future.

Nutrition managers need to assess costing tools well to ensure their needs are met, since one tool cannot do everything.

In 2008, an Inter-Agency Working Group on Costing was established, consisting of WHO, UNICEF, World Bank, UNAIDS, UNFPA and UNDP) to support standardized methods and tools. The group reviewed 13 commonly used costing tools. The review showed that there are many tools with different frameworks,

terminology and software, of which few can do a health impact analysis to inform strategic planning. A technical consultation was held in 2008, where countries requested the UN agencies to harmonize tools. In response to the country request, the Inter-Agency Working group started developing the "One Health Tool". The United Nations "One Health Model" is a new software tool designed to strengthen health system analysis, costing and financing scenarios at the country level. Its primary purpose is to assess public health investment needs in low and middle income countries. For the first time, planners have a single framework for planning, costing, impact analysis, budgeting and financing of strategies for all major diseases and health system components.

The tool is designed for use by experts involved in national health planning, including government health planners, UN agencies, non-governmental organizations, donors, researchers and consultants. It can be used to support the development of a national health strategic plan, a medium-term expenditure framework, or a needs assessment for the Millennium Development Goals.

The model takes a comprehensive approach to health systems. It incorporates planning and costing of all the health systems building blocks: human resources, facilities, equipment and transportation, medicines and supply chains, health management information systems, monitoring and evaluation, governance activities such as policy and advocacy, and activities related to financing and administration. The model can also be used for programme-specific costing. The user can set up and define a national nutrition programmes to match the country context, and then estimate the cost for a specific programme, including an analysis of the broader health system implications. The format for programme planning is streamlined so that a consistent approach is used across programmes.

A group of health planning experts (known as the Country Reference Group) in low- and middle-income countries ensures that inputs from ministries of health are incorporated into the tool. The group has been attending inter-agency working group meetings, participating in technical discussions and engaging in the tool design and planning for its roll-out.

The tool will be made public in mid-2011, following pilot testing in selected countries. Mechanisms for training, such as web-based courses, are currently being explored.

#### e-Library of Evidence for Nutrition Actions (eLENA) and Global Information System on Implementation of Nutrition Actions and Policies (GISNAP) - Chizuru Nishida, Coordinator for Nutrition Policy and Scientific Advice, Department of Nutrition, WHO

The Department of Nutrition for Health and Development (NHD) in collaboration with internal and external partners initiated the development of an electronic Library of Evidence for Nutrition Actions (eLENA) in 2009. eLENA is being designed as an on-line web portal that will contain the most current and relevant information related to nutrition actions interventions across a broad spectrum of topics. The aim of eLENA is to guide Member States and partners to develop and implement effective policies and intervention programmes to scale up nutrition. eLENA will compile and centralize this information to facilitate the adoption and adaptation of evidence-informed guidelines so that safe and effective interventions can be scaled up globally. It will further be a single point of reference for the latest WHO nutrition guidelines and recommendations and related information.

A single intervention title within eLENA will contain the biological, behavioural and contextual rationales for the nutrition action, along with current evidence, existing guidelines, and other resources that are available on the subject. eLENA will also be used as a forum to share commentaries, or expert opinion on each of the nutrition actions.

An email campaign aimed at potential users will take place between June and August 2011 to raise awareness and promote its use. The expected launch is the 10 August 2011 with an initial forty titles that will continue to be added to throughout the coming years.

GISNAP, the global information system is building on existing work in WHO to monitor nutrition policy and action since the 1992 ICN. It is being designed as an online interactive database of nutrition action and policies. The launch of GISNAP is planned for 2012. The information on actions will be fed by interested parties, i.e. UN, NGOs, governments, research and interest groups using an online template. Policy data will initially come from the recent Global Nutrition Policy Review and the existing WHO Global Database on National Nutrition Policies and Programmes, though additional policy documents can be added through a similar online template.

The information system will assist in monitoring the implementation of nutrition policies in countries and could therefore constitute an important tool for accountability. It could also serve a range of specific tasks such as monitoring the implementation of the SUN-actions as well as many other nutrition-related actions which are recommended by WHO.

GISNAP will include policy factsheets, action fact sheets, country policy and action data and interactive, multilayer maps.

eLENA and GISNAP will be interconnected also with the Nutrition Landscape Information System (NLiS) NLiS bring together all existing WHO Global Nutrition Databases dynamically, as well as other existing food and nutrition-related data from partner agencies, like UNICEF, UN Statistics Division, UNDP, FAO, DHS, the World Bank, the International Food Policy Research Institute and the International Labour Organization. NLiS is online accessible through the following link:

http://www.who.int/nutrition/nlis/en/index.html

#### Discussion on implementation mechanisms and tools

During the discussion it was stressed that at community level there are often no nutritionists. It will be important to define at which level we need nutritionists and what profiles and nutrition skills are needed at different levels. A lot of focus has been put on university degrees in nutrition, but university graduates will be overqualified for implementation. There might be a need to advocate for mid-level nutrition staff.

Ghana for instance has technical nutrition officers that are not graduates, but have done a three-year course. It will not be feasible to have "nutritionists" on all levels up to the community level. WHO is currently working on a paper defining the competencies needed at different levels.

Countries also raised a concern about the numerous *global and regional initiatives*, which all create an extra burden to countries, needing to create different mechanisms and reporting systems for different initiatives. It was highlighted that countries need to be in the driving seat, deciding what could work for them and pick components of different initiatives for their country setting.

With regard to the WHO tool to develop *country scale up plans*, countries expressed interest in learning from countries which have gone through the first steps of this approach and have conducted the Landscape Analysis Country Assessment. The methodology of developing scale up plans has been developed in line with SUN, but it was also emphasized that SUN is a movement, which will be able to assist countries once country scale up plans are in place.

The importance of *civil societies* in accountability was also stressed. Consumer groups can play a strong role in driving government policies and in ensuring a balance in involving the private sector. Experiences from NGOs can be very valuable and it would be crucial to share these good practices experience. Countries also raised the concern that some NGOs are implementing programmes without building local capacity and ensuring sustainability or addressing actual country needs. It was also mentioned that guidelines of NGOs do not always reflect government guidelines.

With regard to costing tools for nutrition, it was stressed that it will be crucial to have one comprehensive tool for all interventions and levels. The advantage of using costing tools was emphasized in order to have transparency of funds and costed activities, which might help raise donors' interest in national nutrition plans.

It was suggested that indicators 19, 20 and 21 in the *indicator table* are composite indicators, which are affected by many factors and could be omitted from the list.

Indicator 3 was considered as too vague. Instead of only saying "adoption", the indicator should indicate the existence of a law. In the definition of the indicator, the code documentation center should be indicated as a source. With regard to indicators 12-14 on nutritional status, it was stressed that underweight has been left out and since it is part of the MDGs, it would be important to ensure consistency. The monitoring framework should specify the frequency of reporting on the indicators. It was also stressed that an indicator on overweight/obesity should be included in the list of indicators.

### Conclusions

The discussions of the meeting were very fruitful and promising activities had been proposed. The meeting was an opportunity to stock take on the current state of implementation of policies and programmes in nutrition, to present and discuss the outline of the Comprehensive Implementation Plan on maternal, infant and young child nutrition to be discussed at the 64<sup>th</sup> World Health Assembly in May 2011, at a time of increased interest and political commitment to nutrition as also documented by the success of the Scaling Up Nutrition movement. The meeting also allowed to establish a dialogue on nutrition policies and programmes involving the health and agricultural sectors, in preparation for the proposed International Conference on Nutrition 20 years since the first ICN was held in 1992 (ICN+20).

Countries reported challenges as well as achievements and successes:

- Multisectoral policies and strategies exist, but nutrition is not always mainstreamed in development plans; while nutrition policies, strategies and plans of action have been developed in many countries there is seldom adequate investment for their implementation
- While a number of countries have made little or no progress in achieving the MDG 1 for reducing poverty, hunger and malnutrition, others have had significant success
- Key factors for success include high level political commitment, public awareness, good coordination between actors and the presence of high level mulstisectoral coordination mechanisms
- Some successes have been documented in promoting breastfeeding rates, in addressing severe acute malnutrition and in improving coverage of micronutrient interventions
- Challenges include insufficient capacity of decentralised cadres who provide services to implement all the nutrition interventions at scale, the need to have a harmonized intervention package, and the sustainability of financial resources

On the development and implementation of scale up plans, participants highlighted:

- The need for comprehensive country scale up plans for the different interventions
- The need of adequate costing tools for development of policies and programmes
- The need for harmonized and agreed indicators

The linkages between food security, agriculture, nutrition and health were articulated and FAO was asked to continue to provide its assistance to countries in the implementation of nutrition-sensitive food and agriculture-based approaches for improving nutrition for all, including for mothers, infants and young children, at policy, strategy and programme level, as these were acknowledged as been effective, viable and sustainable long-term solutions for improving diets and raising levels of nutrition.

Next steps:

- WHO will use to the inputs from countries to further develop the Comprehensive Implementation Plan, which will be presented at the next WHA
- FAO and WHO will jointly work with countries on further developing their country nutrition papers and on preparations for the ICN+20

### Closure of the meeting

In the closing remarks, FAO, USAID, UNICEF, WFP and WHO stressed the importance of this meeting and the need to further work on scaling up nutrition in the African Region. The joint nature of the meeting with health and agriculture representatives was highlighted as a major achievement. Concerns of countries have been raised and the regional agencies will assist countries in finding the right way to different nutrition initiatives. It was suggested that for future meetings, the link to CAADP as well as food safety should be made more strongly. The organizers expressed warm thanks to the Zimbabwean Government for hosting the meeting and to the participants for their valuable contributions.

### Annex 1 - Programme

### **Scaling up Nutrition in the African Region**

A consultation in response to the World Health Assembly Resolution (WHA 63.23)

### 3-5 May 2011, Harare, Zimbabwe

#### Tuesday, 3 May 2011

Chair: Patience Mensah, WHO

### 8.30 – 9.30 Introduction and Objectives. Welcome address: WHO (WR) and FAO (Subregional office) Key note address WHO (IST / ESA) Opening address: MoH Zimbabwe Introduction and objectives of the meeting Administrative briefing

Objective of day 1: To present country progress, needs and commitments to scale up nutrition

#### 9.30 – 10.30 Global and regional nutrition situation and policy responses

Global nutrition situation: burden and policy response – WHO, Francesco Branca

Nutrition challenges in the African Region – WHO, Charles Sagoe-Moses

SUN Framework – global initiative to scale up nutrition interventions – David Nabarro

Multisectoral policy responses: roadmap to a International Conference of Nutrition – twenty years later (ICN+20) - FAO, Brian Thompson

Donors perspectives on scaling up - Dfid, Jenny Amery

#### 10.30 -11.00 Discussion

11.00 -11.15 Coffee/Tea break

#### 11.15 – 13.00 Country presentations and discussion (two separate groups)

**Group 1:** Botswana, Djibouti, Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Lesotho, Liberia, Malawi, Mozambique, (Chair: Ghana, Rapporteur: Luca Passerini)

**Group 2:** Namibia, Nigeria, Rwanda, Sierra Leone, Tanzania, Uganda, South Africa, Sudan, Zambia, Zimbabwe (Chair: Zimbabwe, Rapporteur: Ferima Coulibaly-Zerbo)

13.00 – 14.00 Lunch

#### 14.00 – 15.00 **Country presentations and discussion (follows from previous session)**

#### 15.00 – 15.30 Coffee/Tea break

- 15.30 16.00 **Summary of country presentations and discussions**.
- 16.00 17.30 Plenary discussion on cross cutting issues: policy development and challenges of scaling up

Facilitators: Francesco Branca, WHO and Brian Thompson, FAO

#### Wednesday, 4 May 2011

### Objective of day 2: To collect country contributions and perspectives on the comprehensive implementation plan

#### Chair: South Africa

8.30 - 10.30 Nutrition actions of ECSA - Dorothy Namuchimba

#### Effective interventions in the health sector.

Overview of the comprehensive implementation plan–WHO, Francesco Branca

- 1. Behavioral interventions
- 2. Malnutrition
- 3. Targeted nutritional support
- 4. Other health interventions
- 5. NCD
- 10.30 -11.00: Coffee/Tea break

#### 11.00 - 13.00 Country success stories

- 1. Breastfeeding/infant and young child feeding- Ghana
- 2. Micronutrient supplementation and salt iodization Tanzania
- 3. Flour fortification Uganda
- 4. Malnutrition: Integrated community programmes Malawi and Nigeria

#### Discussion

13.00 – 14.00 Lunch

#### Chair: Zambia

14.00 – 15.00 Effective interventions and country success stories in agriculture and other non-health sectors

1. Nutrition-sensitive food and agriculture-based approaches – FAO, Leslie Amoroso 2. Education Trials of Improved Practices (TIPs) for complementary feeding – FAO, Charity Diroimwe

3. Community programmes linking nutrition and food security – Evidence based interventions in FAO projects in Lesotho and Malawi – FAO, Brian Thompson

#### 15.00 – 15.30 Coffee/Tea break

#### 15.30 - 17.30 Group works

- 5 working groups:
- 1. Behavioural interventions and education
- 2. Malnutrition, targeted interventions and other health interventions
- 3. Micronutrient interventions
- 4. Nutrition-sensitive food and agriculture-based approaches
- 5. Social protection

#### 19.00 Cocktail

#### Thursday, 5 May 2011

#### Chair: Tanzania

#### **Objective of day 3: To explore the commitment to supporting implementation of proposed actions.**

#### 8.30 – 10.00 **Report back from working groups (5)**

10.00 – 10.30 Coffee/Tea break

#### 10.30 – 12.30 Implementation

- 1. Role of civil society MSF, Nathalie Ernoult
- 2. Country process: Policy briefs for Country Scale up plans WHO, Chizuru Nishida
- 3. REACH joint approach to ending child hunger WHO, Ferima Coulibaly-Zerbo
- 4. Global nutrition governance SCN, Lina Mahy
- 5. Capacity building -HKI, Anu Narayan

#### 12.30 – 13.30 Lunch

#### Chair: Botswana

#### 13.30 -15.00 Implementation tools

- 1. Monitoring and evaluation WHO, Chizuru Nishida
- 2. Costing nutrition interventions with the One Health Tool WHO, Ursula Trubswasser
- 3. eLENA, GISNA WHO, Chizuru Nishida

#### 15.00 - 15.30 Closing ceremony

WHO and FAO

Annex 2	2 - P	Partici	pants
---------	-------	---------	-------

Country	Name	Title	Organization	Address	Telephone/ Mobile	Email
Botswana	Mrs Lucy Sejo Maribe	FHP	WHO	P O Box 1355, Gaborone	267-3905593	maribel@bw.afro.who.int
	Mrs Lenkwetse Bolaane	Nutritionist	Ministry of Health	P Bag 00269, Gaborone	267-3170585	lbolaane@gov.bw
	Mrs Jacinta Sibiya	Principal Health Officer (Nutrition)	Ministry of Health	P Bag 00269, Gaborone	267-71301965	jsibiya@gov.bw jacintaw.sibiya@yahoo.com
Djibouti	Mr Mohamed Ali Ahmed	Technical Adviser Ing Agro- economist	Ministry of Agriculture	BP453, Republique de Djibouti	253-351297/253- 810698	mohamedag1@yahoo.fr
Eritrea	Ms Mebrat Abraham Ghebreselassie	Home Economist	Ministry of Agriculture	P O Box 1048, Asmara	291-1-181077	meabhe2000@yahoo.com
Ghana	Mrs Akosua Kwakye	NPO/Nutrition Food Safety	WHO	P O Box MB142, Accra	233-302-763918	kwakyea@gh.afro.who.int
	Dr Linda Amarkai Vanotoo	Regional Director of Health Service	Ghana Health Service	House No. 1, Airport Ridge Takoradi Western Region P O Box 202 Sekondi	233-2022241 233-208188757 233-243-714095	lavanoto@yahoo.com linda.vanotoo@ghsmail.org
	Mrs Wilhelmina Okwabi	Nutritionist	Ghana Health Service	P O Box M78, Accra	233-302-665001/233- 244-212352	waokwabi@yahoo.com wilhelmina.okwabi@ghsmail.org
Kenya	Dr Assumpia Muriithi	NPO/CAH & NUT	WHO	P O Box 45335, Kenya	254-20-2717902	muriithia@ke.afro.who.int
-	Dr Khadija Ahmed Abdalla	Deputy Head Division of Child & Adolescent Health	Ministry of Public Health & Sanitation	P O Box 10726 Masunduku Lane, Vanga Road Nairobi 00100	254-720857636	kabdal2@gmail.com khdjahmed@yahoo.com
	Mrs Gladys Mugambi	Nutrition Program Officer	Ministry of Public Health & Sanitation	30016, Nairobi	254-720791041	gladysmugambi@yahoo.com
	Mr Paul Mungai	Assistant Director of Education	Ministry of Education	Box 30040, 00100, Nairobi	254-318581/ 254-722586164	Paul.Mungai@yahoo.com
	Mrs Felicia Ndung'u	Assistant Director of Agriculture	Ministry of Agriculture	P O Box 30028, 00100, Nairobi	254-22718870/ 254-2725774	ndungufelicia@yahoo.com
Lesotho	Mrs Libuseng Bereng	Chief Nutrition Officer	Ministry of Health	P O Box 8896, Maseru	266-223-4230/266- 588-62873	libusengb@yahoo.com

Country	Name	Title	Organization	Address	Telephone/ Mobile	Email
Liberia	Mrs Jessie E. Duncan	Assistant Minister Preventive Services	Ministry of Health and Social Welfare	Capital Bypass P O Box 10-9009-1000 Monrovia	231-6517797	jesebba@yahoo.com
	Mrs Kou T. Baawo	Director, Nutrition Division	Ministry of Health and Social Welfare	Capital Bypass P O Box 10-9009-1000 Monrovia	231-6512987	ktgbaawo@yahoo.com, ktgbaawo@gmail.com mohswnutition@gmail.com
	Mrs Monica Kheshen Honore	Country Agriculture Coordinator	Ministry of Agriculture	Suakoko Bong County	231-6-510795	Monhon1965@yahoo.com
Malawi	Dr Susan Kambale	NPO-CAH	WHO	P O Box 30390, Lilongwe	265-1-772450	kambales@mw.afro.who.int
	Mrs Tapiwa Ngulube	Nutritionist	Ministry of Health	P O Box 30377, Lilongwe	265-1-788201	nyakaphika@gmail.com
	Dr Martias Joshua	Hospital Director	Ministry of Health	P O Box 21, Zomba	265-1-524881/ 265-999962683	martiasjoshua@yahoo.com
	Ms Margaret Lwanda	Deputy Director (Nutritionist)	Ministry of Agriculture and Food Security	P O Box 30145, Lilongwe	265-1-754675	margielwanda@yahoo.com
Mozambique	Dr Luca Passerini	Nutrition Specialist	WHO	280 Rue Pereira Marinho, Maputo	258-844-026200	passerinil@mz.afro.who.int
	Dr Edna Possolo	Nutritionist	Ministry of Health	Salvador Allende Avenue, Maputo	258-21321738 258-827302403	epossolo@misau.gov.mz; ednapossolo@gmail.com
	Almeida Jorge Tembe	Plan and Policy Technician	Ministry of Agriculture	AV. IPLM-IIAM-SETSAN	258-21-463403	atembe@setsan.org.mz
Namibia	Dr Ghirmay Andemicheal	MCH Officer	WHO	UN House, Stein Street, P O Box 3444, Namibia	264-814-546505	Andemichaelg@na.afro.who.int
	Ms M. Van Wyk	Chief Health Programme Administrator	Ministry of Health	P. Bag 13198, Windhoek	264-61-2032722	marjorievanwyk@yahoo.com
	Mrs N. Angermund	Health Programme Administrator	Ministry of Health	P. Bag 13198, Windhoek	264-81-2494489	nangermund@mhss.gov.na
	Ms Aina-Maria Iteta	Agricultural Economist	Ministry of Agriculture	Windhoek	264-61-2087660	aiteta07@yahoo.com

Country	Name	Title	Organization	Address	Telephone/ Mobile	Email
Nigeria	Mr Stanley Chitekwe	Nutrition Manager	UNICEF	UN House Garki, Abuja	234-80-34035273	schitekwe@unicef.org
Rwanda	Mr Justin Ntaganda	Public Health Officer	Ministry of Health	P O Box 84 Kigali	250-788-489801	Ntaganda77@yahoo.com
	Mr Ndatinya Leopold Kazungu	Public Health Officer	Ministry of Health	P O Box 84 Kigali	250-788-531008	<u>leokazungu@yahoo.fr</u>
Sierra Leone	Ms Hannah Yankson	NPO-Nutrition	WHO	20 Naimbana Street, Freetown	232-76-630712	yanksonh@sl.afro.who.int
	Ms Aminata S. Koroma	National Nutrition Manager	Ministry of Health	12A Maze Terrace, Freetown	232-25-203073/ 232-76-300770	<u>shamitami@yahoo.com</u>
	Ms Bridget O. Kamara	District Assistant	Ministry of Agriculture	2 Macauley Street, Kissy, Freetown	232-76745197	oyabkamara@yahoo.co.uk
South Africa	Mrs Carol Mohamed	NPO/FHP	WHO	351 Schoeman Street, Metro Park Bldng, Pretoria	27-12-3057726	mohamedc@za.afro.who.int
	Ms Lynn Moeng	Director – Nutrition	Ministry of Health	Civitas Building, Pretoria	27-12-3958782	moengl@health.gov.za
	Ms Ray Mohlabi	Director – Child Health	Ministry of Health	P Bag X828, Pretoria 0001	27-12-3958018	mohlar@health.gov.za
Sudan	Mary Benjamin Loki	Director for Post Harvest & Home Nutritionist	Ministry of Agriculture		249-955-450179	msande_loki@yahoo.com
Tanzania	Dr Mike Zangenberg	Technical Officer	WHO	Luthuli Road P O Box 9292 Dar es Salaam	255-22-2111718 255-773945288	zangenbergm@tz.afro.who.int
	Dr Sabas Kimboka	Director of Community Health & Nutrition	Tanzania Food & Nutrition Centre	P O Box 977, Dar es Salaam	255-222-124434/255- 713-400870	skimboka@hotmail.com
	Dr Subilaga Edward	Nutrition Focal	Min of Health	P O 9083	255-222127191	skazimoto2001@yahoo.com
	Kazimoto	Person	Social Welfare	Dar es Salaam	255-754042204	
	Karim Mtambo	Assistant Director National Food Security Division	Ministry of Agriculture	P O Box 9192, Dar es Salaam	255-754-296257/ 255- 222-865968	Kmtambo04@yahoo.com
Uganda	Dr Geoffrey Bisoborwa	NPO CAH/NUT	WHO	P O Box 24578 Kampala	256-414-335500	bisoborwag@ug.afro.who.int

Country	Name	Title	Organization	Address	Telephone/ Mobile	Email
	Dr Anthony Mbonye	Commissioner Health Services	Ministry of Health	P O Box 7272, Kampala	256-772-411668	akmbonye@yahoo.com
	Mrs Agnes Chandia	Ag. Head Nutrition Unit	Ministry of Health	P O Box 7272, Kampala	256-772-88620	bakuchandia@yahoo.com
	Sarah Nahalamba	National Planning Authority	Senior Gender & Social Development Officer	P O Box 21434, Kampala	256-414-250211/ 256-776-500687	<u>snahalamba@npa.ug</u> <u>skoire2000@yahoo.co.uk</u>
Zambia	Dr Mary Katepa- Bwalya	NPO/CAH	WHO	P O Box 32346, Lusaka, Harare	260-211-255322	bwalyam@zm.afro.who.int
	Ms Agnes Aongola	Chief Nutrition Liaison Officer	Ministry of Health	P O Box 30205, Lusaka, Harare	260-1-254030	aaongola@yahoo.com
	Ms Jane Chitanda	Nutritionist	Ministry of Health	P O Box 32573, Lusaka, Harare	260-977885649	jane_chitanda@yahoo.com
	Ms Nancy Sakala	Principal Food Utilization & Nutrition Officer	Ministry of Agriculture	Mulungushi House, Lusaka	260-977-445699	nanasakala@gmail.com
Zimbabwe	Dr Trevor Kanyowa	NPO-CAH	WHO/Zimbabwe	86 Enterprise Road, Highlands	263-4-253724	kanyowat@zw.afro.who.int
	Mr George D. Kembo	Director	Food & Nutrition Council	1574 Alpes Road, Hatcliffe, Box 6640	263-4-862586	<u>gkembo@sirdc.ac.zw</u>
	Dorothy-Jean McCoubrey	Food Safety Advisor	FAO	Block 1, Tendeseka Office Park, Samora Machel Avenue, Harare	263-4-253655	dorothyjean.mccoubrey@fao.org
	Emily Mbanga	Jnr Technical Officer, Food Safety & Nutrition	FAO	Block 1, Tendeseka Office Park, Samora Machel Avenue, Harare	263-4-253655 Ext 217	Emily.Mbanga@fao.org
	Ms Delilah Takawira	Nutrition Officer	FAO	Block 1, Tendeseka Office Park, Samora Machel Avenue, Harare	263-4253655 Ext 253	Delilah.Takawira@fao.org
	Ms Sibongile Mangena	Agronomist	Ministry of Agriculture	P O Box CY2505, Causeway, Harare	263-773913280	sibongilemangena@gmail.com mangenasibongile@yahoo.co.uk
	Mr Tasiana Nyadzayo	Nutritionist	Ministry of Health and Child Welfare	Central Avenue/4 <sup>th</sup> Street P O Box CY 1122 Causeway, Harare	263-4 792454 263-773186484	knyadzayo@yahoo.com tknyadzayo@gmail.com

Country	Name	Title	Organization	Address	Telephone/ Mobile	Email
	Mrs Evamae Katedza	Nutritionist	Ministry of Health and Child Welfare	Central Avenue/4 <sup>th</sup> Street P O Box CY 1122 Causeway, Harare	263-4-701555 263-712618279	evakatedza@yahoo.com
	Dr Gibson Mhlanga	Principle Director Prevention	Ministry of Health and Child Welfare	Central Avenue/4 <sup>th</sup> Street P O Box CY 1122 Causeway, Harare	263-712862 600	Mhlanga.gibson@gmail.com
	Ms Ancikaria Chigumira	Nutritionist/Dietic ian	Ministry of Health and Child Welfare	Central Avenue/4 <sup>th</sup> Street P O Box CY 1122 Causeway, Harare	263-4 792454 263-712433283	ancikaria53@gmail.com
	Mrs Rufaro Charity Madzima	Consultant: Infant & Young children Nutrition	Nutrition Plus (Pvt) Ltd	8 Southam Road, Greystone Park, Harare	263-4-885443/263- 773016522	<u>chakulanalishe@yahoo.com</u> wmadzima@iwayafrica.co.zw
	Mutsa Tsvamuno	Nutrition Coordinator	Save the Children	221 Fife Avenue, Harare	263-773-274959	mutsat@savethechildrenzw.org
	Mr Bernard Jerome	Livelihoods/Food Security Adviser	Save the Children	221 Fife Avenue, Harare	263-712-865250	jeromeb@savethechildren.zw.org
	Mr Tobias Stillman	Nutrition National Cluster Coordinator	UNICEF	6 Fairbridge Avenue Belgravia, Harare	263-4-703941	Tstillman@unicef.org
	Mrs Thokozile Ncube	Nutrition Officer	UNICEF	6 Fairbridge Avenue Belgravia, Harare	263-4-703941	tncube@unicef.org
	Mr Paul Mudzongo	Nutrition Surveillance Officer	UNICEF	6 Fairbridge Avenue Belgravia, Harare	263-772-318787	pmudzongo@unicef.org pmudzongo@yahoo.com
	Mrs Charity Zvandaziva	Nutrition Officer	UNICEF	6 Fairbridge Avenue Belgravia, Harare	263-4-703941	czvandaziva@unicef.org
	Fitsum Assefa	Nutrition Manager	UNICEF	6 Fairbridge Avenue Belgravia, Harare	263-4-703941	fassefa@unicef.org
	Mr Arthur Pagiwa	P.A. Nutrition	WFP	15 Natal Road, Belgravia, Harare	263-4-799216	Arthur.Pagiwa@wfp.org
	Ms Tafara Ndumiyanda	Programme Officer	WFP	15 Natal Road, Belgravia, Harare	263-4-799216	tafara.ndumiyana@wfp.org
Zimbabwe						

Country	Name	Title	Organization	Address	Telephone/ Mobile	Email
Partners/int	ernational and regional o	rganization				
	Ms Leslie Amoroso	Nutrition Consultant	FAO	Viale delle Terme di Caracalla, 00153, Rome	39-06-57054593	leslie.amoroso@fao.org
	Mr Brian Thompson	Senior Nutrition Officer	FAO	Viale delle Terme di Caracalla, 00153, Rome	39-06-57054153	Brian.thompson@fao.org
	Ms Charity Dirorimwe	Consultant	FAO	13 Derby Road, Avondale, Harare	263-775-076222	dirorimwe@iname.com
	Dr Jenny Amery	Chief for Human Development	DFID	1 Palace Street, London SW1E 5HE		J-Amery@dfid.gov.uk
	Elena K. Facchini	Health Officer	USAID East Africa	Unit 8900 P O Box 3, DPO AE09831-0003	254-208622418	<u>efacchini@usaid.gov</u>
	Mary Ellen Skarie	Director, Regional Health & HIV/AIDS office	USAID East Africa	Unit 8900 P O Box 3, DPO AE09831-0003	254-208622351 254-724255712	mskarie@usaid.gov
	Katrien Ghoos	Regional Nutrition Advisor	UNICEF/ESARO	P O Box 44146, 00100, Nairobi	254-701633890	kghoos@unicef.org
	Julia Tagwireyi	Senior Nutrition Advisor	WFP	17-19 Clement Hill Road P O Box 7159 Kampala	256-31-2242412/ 256-779-290543	julia.tagwireyi@wfp.org
	Dr Nabarro	United Nations Secretary- General's Special Representative for Food Security and Nutrition	United Nations	2 UN Plaza Room 2613 New York NY 10017 USA	1 212 906 6083 +41 22 917 1189; +39 06 5459 2415 ; Mobiles: +41 78 610 2625 +1 917 325 6154 +39 335 6100995	nabarro@un.org david.nabarro@undp.org
	Ms Florence Lasbennes		United Nations	2 UN Plaza Room 2613 New York NY 10017 USA		lasbennesf@un.org; Florence.Lasbennes@undp.org
	Mrs Lina Mahy	Technical Officer	Standing Committee on Nutrition (UNSCN)	20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva	41-227-913544	mahyl@who.int

Country	Name	Title	Organization	Address	Telephone/ Mobile	Email
	Ms Dorothy Namuchimba	Manager, Food Security & Nutrition	East, Central & Southern African Health Community	P O Box 1009, Arusha,	255-27-2549362/5/6 255-758472104	dnamuchimba@ecsa.or.tz
	Albertha Nyaku	Africa Regional Nutrition Advisor	PATH	P O Box 1985 Parklands 1985 Johannesburg	27-11-4471641	anyaku@path.org
	Mr Thulani Maphosa		IBFAN	P O Box 781 Mbabane	268-4043852	maphosat@yahoo.com
	Ms Pumla Bongiwe Dlamini	MIYCN Senior Assistant	GAIN	Midrand, Johannesburg	27-11-2563490/27-82- 4117461	pdlamini@gainhealth.org
	Mrs Beatrice Mounier		Action Contre La Faim (ACF)	4 rue Niepce, 75014. Paris	33-143-358888	bmounier@actioncontrelafaim.org
	Ms Nathalie Ernoult	Nutrition Policy Advisor	MSF - Access			nathalie.ermoult@parismsf.org
	Adish Abdulaziz	Deputy Regional Director	Micronutrient Initiative	Nifas Silk-lafto subcity, keb 04,	251-912-797620	aadish@micronutrient.org
	Jacqueline Kung'u	Regional Research Advisor and Monitoring & Evaluation	Micronutrient Initiative	1 <sup>st</sup> Floor Purshottam Place, Westlands Road, Nairobi	254-711-202075	jkungu@micronutrient.org
WHO -HQ	Dr Francesco Branca	Director of the Department for Nutrition for Health and Development	WHO/HQ	20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva		brancaf@who.int
	Dr Chizuru Nishida	Coordinator & Scientist Nutrition Policy & Scientific Advice Nutrition for Health & Development	WHO/HQ	20 Avenue Appia, 1211	41-22-7913317	<u>nishidac@who.int</u>
WHO-AFRO	Dr Abel Dushimimana	Regional Advisor for Nutrition	WHO/AFRO	Cité du Djoué BP 6 Brazzaville Congo	242-6734927	dushimimanaa@afro.who.int

Country	Name	Title	Organization	Address	Telephone/ Mobile	Email
	Dr Patience Mensah	Programme Manager, Food Safety and Nutrition Programme	WHO/AFRO	Cité du Djoué BP 6 Brazzaville, Congo	47 241 39775	mensahp@afro.who.int
	Dr Charles Sagoe- Moses	Regional Adviser	WHO/AFRO	Cité du Djoué BP 6 Brazzaville, Congo	47-241-39760	sagoemosesc@afro.who.int
WHO – Inter- country	Dr Ferima Coulibaly Zerbo	Nutrition Officer	WHO/IST/WA	Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso	226-50306509 226-75149669	zerbof@bf.afro.who.int
Support Teams	Dr Aichatou Gbaguidi Diawara	Nutrition Officer	WHO/IST/CA	B.P. 820 Libreville	241-05097647	diawaraa@ga.afro.who.int
	Ms Ursula Trubswasser	Technical Officer –Nutrition	WHO/IST/ESA	P O Box CY348, Causeway, Harare	263-4-253724	trubswasseru@zw.afro.who.int
	Dr Theresa Nduku Nzomo	Focal Point MPS	WHO/IST/ESA	P O Box BE 773, Belvedere, Harare	47-241-38331/38096	nzomot@zw.afro.who.int nduku86@yahoo.com
	Dr Teshome Desta		WHO/IST/ESA	P O Box BE 773, Belvedere, Harare	263-4-253724	destat@zw.afro.who.int
Secretariat	Ms Calista Kawa	Admin Assistant	WHO/IST/ESA	P O Box CY348, Causeway, Harare	263-4-253724	kawac@zw.afro.who.int
	Mrs Edith Imbayarwo	Admin Assistant	WHO/IST/ESA	P o Box CY348, Causeway, Harare	263-4-253724	imbayarwoe@zw.afro.who.int

### References

<sup>1</sup> WHO. World Health Statistics 2010.

<sup>2</sup>Kimani-Murage et al, The prevalence of stunting, overweight and obesity, and metabolic disease risk in rural South African children, BMC Public Health, 2010, 10: 158.

<sup>3</sup>Globalization of food systems in developing countries: impact on food security and nutrition, FAO, 2004.

<sup>4</sup> Global Nutrition Policy Review, WHO, 2010.